Building a Future for YOU

Our Vision
Empowering those we serve to
achieve wealth and value beyond
their expectations.
Our Mission
To create shared value through
exceptional financial services
built on best practices and our
foundation as an indigenous
Institution.
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Building a Future
for YOU

The year 2020 was marked by life changing events. Despite the uncertainties, the ACB Group (ACB) continues to
Build a Future for all its stakeholders. As one of the largest indigenous Banks in the Eastern Caribbean Currency
Union (ECCU), we carry the hopes and dreams of the tens of thousands who still move forward with their lives
with optimism, both personally and within the business environment.
At ACB, we have been actively engaged in enhancing our technologies to meet the demands of the “new normal”,
while adapting to the ever changing paradigm of the financial sector, locally, regionally and internationally. Our
commitment remains unwavering to Building a Future for YOU.
4

Antigua Commercial Bank 2020 Annual Report | Building a Future for YOU
TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF
CONTENTS

03 Our Core Values
06 Corporate Information
07 Notice of Annual General
Meeting
08 Chairman’s Report
13 Board of Directors - Antigua
Commercial Bank Ltd.
14 Corporate Social
Responsibility Feature
17 Board of Directors - ACB
Mortgage & Trust Company
Limited

18 Talent Management and
Recognition Report

46 Consolidated Statement of
Income

23 Directors’ Report

47 Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

34 Management’s Discussion and
Analysis
38 Management Team - Antigua
Commercial Bank Ltd.
41 Consolidated Financial
Statements of Antigua
Commercial Bank Ltd.
42 Independent Auditors’ Report

Chairman’s Report

49 Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity
51 Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

45 Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position

HIGHLIGHTS

08

48 Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows

INTEREST INCOME MIX

18

Talent Recognition

34

Management’s Discussion

Antigua Commercial Bank 2020 Annual Report | Building a Future for YOU
TABLE OF CONTENTS

5

CORPORATE INFORMATION

REGISTERED OFFICE AND
POSTAL ADDRESS
Thames & St. Mary’s Streets, P.O.
Box 95, St. John’s, Antigua, West
Indies

SERVICE LOCATIONS
ACB Head Office: Thames & St.
Mary’s Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
ACB Financial Centre: High &
Temple Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
Village Walk Branch: Village Walk
Commercial Centre Ltd., Friars
Hill Road, St. John’s, Antigua
Barbuda Agency: Codrington,
Barbuda

ATM LOCATIONS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

ACB Head Office: Thames & St.
Mary’s Streets, St. John’s, Antigua

KPMG, 2nd Floor, ABI Financial
Centre, 156 Redcliffe Street, P.O.
Box W388 St. John’s, Antigua

ACB Financial Centre: High &
Temple Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
Village Walk Commercial Centre
Ltd.: Friars Hill Road, St. John’s,
Antigua
V. C. Bird International Airport:
Coolidge, St. George, Antigua

Correspondent
BANKING RELATIONSHIPS
Bank of America
Bank of Montreal
Bank of Saint Lucia Limited

Barbuda Agency: Codrington,
Barbuda

Bank of St. Vincent and the
Grenadines Limited

Epicurean Fine Foods &
Pharmacy: Epicurean Drive, St.
John’s, Antigua

Crown Agents Bank

Townhouse Mega Store Plaza: All
Saints and American Roads, St.
John’s, Antigua

1st National Bank St. Lucia Ltd.

Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

National Bank of Dominica Ltd.

EMAIL ADDRESS

National Commercial Bank of
Anguilla Limited

acb@acbonline.com

Republic Bank (Barbados) Ltd.

WEBSITE

Republic Bank (Grenada) Limited

www.acbonline.com

Sagicor Bank Jamaica Ltd.

CONTACT NUMBER

St. Kitts- Nevis- Anguilla National
Bank Limited

(268) 481-4200/1/2/3

FAX NUMBER
(268) 481-4229
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Notice of Annual
General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the SIXTY-FIFTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL
BANK LTD. will be held virtually via the Zoom Webinar Platform on Thursday March 25, 2021 at 2:00pm

Agenda
1. Call to Order
2. Prayers
3. Adoption of Agenda
4. Chairman’s Remarks
5. (a) Confirm the Minutes of the Sixty- Fourth Annual General Meeting
(b) Consider the Matters Arising from the Sixty- Fourth Annual General Meeting Minutes
(c) Confirm the Minutes of the Special Shareholders Meeting- December 30, 2020
(d) Consider the Matters Arising from the Special Shareholders Meeting- December 30, 2020
6. Present the Chairman’s and Directors’ Reports
7. Consider the Financial Statements for the year ended September 30, 2020 and the report of the Auditors
8. Elect Directors and fix their remuneration
9. Declare a Dividend for the financial year ended September 30, 2020
10. Appoint the External Auditors for the year ending September 30, 2021 and authorize the Board to fix their
remuneration
11. Transact any other business which may properly come before an Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

RHODETTE PAIGE
LEGAL COUNSEL/ CORPORATE SECRETARY
March 5, 2021
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
“FORESIGHT is a destination, a FOCUS point to which we
attach all effort. Things change along the way...
and that calls for FLEXIBILITY of support and thinking.”

Lorraine Raeburn, Chairman
8
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OVERVIEW
The Financial Year 2020, has been an unprecedented year as a result of the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic and
its impact on the world’s economies. We have seen economic contractions in proportions never before seen in our
lifetimes, the impact of which is projected to continue well into 2022. No Country or Region has been spared the
onslaught of COVID- 19 including our small islands within the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union (ECCU).
The ECCU experienced contraction of 16.18%, compared to projected growth of 5%. Global travel restrictions
dampened the economies in countries that are heavily reliant on revenue generated by tourism arrivals, significantly
contributing to the magnitude of the contraction. Antigua Commercial Bank (ACB) faced increased costs as we
sought to grapple with the protocols imposed to curb the spread of the virus in the twin island state of Antigua &
Barbuda. The growing rate of unemployment in the tourism industry, cessation of tourism related business, low
levels of international trade, and reduced consumer spending were some of the major factors that resulted in lower
transaction volumes and consequently a significant reduction in fee income.
PERFORMANCE- ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK (ACB GROUP)
This has been one of the most challenging years for the ACB Group, having recorded a net profit of $3.4M, an 84%
decline from the previous year. In addition to the direct impact of COVID-19, the Group also had to make more
provisions for some Business and Mortgage loan customers, whose incomes were directly impacted by COVID-19.
Another major contributor to this significant drop in profits was a change to the Group’s loan loss provision policy,
which resulted in the loan loss provision increasing by 108%. Collectively, these events had the most significant
impact on the income statement this fiscal.
The 15% fall in gross interest income was attributable to the liquidation and collection of outstanding interest on a
large non-performing facility in the prior year (2019) which was not repeated this fiscal, coupled with lower yields
on investments and loans and an overall reduction in the loans portfolio in 2020.
PERFORMANCE- ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK (THE BANK)
The Bank was affected by unprecedented events in the Market including the COVID-19 Pandemic. All Key Result
Areas (KRAs) were impacted, resulting in a loss of $1.7M for this fiscal. This loss is mainly attributable to additional
provisions for some legacy loans due to the application of the new valuation standards for assessing security,
increased provisions for some loans to customers whose businesses were negatively impacted by COVID-19,
lower loan yields due to reduced demand and reduced non-interest income.
Noting the Bank’s significant contribution to the Group’s overall performance, its less than favourable performance
adversely impacted the Group. Despite this position, the key financial ratios such as capital adequacy and liquidity,
remained strong.
PERFORMANCE – ACB MORTGAGE AND TRUST COMPANY LIMITED (SUBSIDIARY)
Despite the pandemic and its impact, the Subsidiary recorded a net profit of $7.2M, albeit a 26.5% or $2.6M decline
compared to prior year. The contributing factors were similar to that of the Bank but less impactful. ACB Mortgage
and Trust continues to be a significant player in the residential housing market providing very competitive terms
and excellent service by its Mortgage specialists.
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GIVING BACK TO OUR COMMUNITY
In spite of the many challenges presented by the pandemic, we were privileged to continue to play a role in the
wider society.
In June 2020, ACB teamed up with the Rotary Club, and embarked on several charitable activities. We provided
a donation to extend relief to vulnerable members of society affected by the pandemic, with the funds used to
provide care packages for the elderly and families facing loss of income due to COVID-19 related unemployment.
In addition, two homes for girls were identified for the donation of computers to facilitate online learning for the
residents at both the primary and secondary level.
Desktop computers were donated and installed, and a review of internet connectivity was undertaken thus enabling
the residents to attend their classes without disruption.
ACB continued with its annual community activities and hosted a revamped edition of Carols in The Park on
December 8, 2019. The concert was a resounding success with 599 attendees, and featured a wide range of local
musical talent on the night. ACB Employees from all departments volunteered their time and support to contribute
to the running of the event. The Botanical Gardens came alive and were awash with beach chairs, blankets and
smiling faces enjoying the concert that was ripe with seasonal spirit. A sizeable donation was raised at this event for
the Children’s Ward at the Mount St. John Medical Centre.
The Management team and Board of Directors hosted their annual lunch at the Fiennes Institute on November
5, 2019, a hallmark event for us, and an event which we look forward to hosting annually. The ACB team served
up a delectable lunch, enjoyed fellowship with the residents, and joined in some light musical entertainment and
dancing to celebrate the start of the season. We take immense pride in showing the senior citizens in society that
we recognize the importance of their contributions.
PURSUING OUR STRATEGIC INITIATIVES

After many months of intense negotiations, ACB, as part of the consortium of five ECCU Banks, signed a sale
agreement to purchase the assets of The Royal Bank of Canada in the OECS in December 2019. This was a
significant milestone for indigenous Banks in the OECS.
10
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One of our core strategic priorities is financial resilience achieved through growth by mergers and acquisitions.
Acquiring the RBC branches, in both Antigua & Barbuda and Grenada, will position us more strategically to achieve
that objective. The sale is in the final stages of regulatory approvals, which were delayed due to the pandemic;
however, we remain committed to keeping you updated throughout this process.
We took the opportunity during this more controlled environment to engage staff on change management
techniques, provided them with training in underwriting skills, risk management and Cyber security training and
awareness.
Another one of our strategic priorities is operational efficiency, and with the reduced banking hall traffic, we were
able to implement a number of projects to assist with achieving this goal. These projects included i) updating and
digitizing customer information files, ii) improving our technological capabilities to provide customers more remote
access to our services, iii) strengthening our IT security, iv) closing any gaps in risk management and v) reviewing
Back Office operations with a view to moving towards full automation and digital banking.
We encouraged our customers to sign up for mobile Banking to access banking services at their convenience on
their mobile phones and devices. We will be introducing new and exciting features to our Mobile Banking in the year
ahead.
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
In closing, I thank the Management and Staff at ACB for their dedication, bravery and commitment throughout
this last year. Over the years, we have become much more agile and nimble, evidenced by our response to the
pandemic and our ability to be among the first Banks to serve customers remotely during the lockdown period.
I also thank my Board for their continued support and commitment to ACB, and our Shareholders for their
understanding, as we continue to make ACB stronger and more profitable in the coming years.
I eagerly anticipate an exciting year ahead of us, with an optimistic outlook that we have become stronger in the
face of adversity. We shall embrace whatever challenges come our way, collectively and united on our path to
excellence.

Dr. Lorraine Raeburn
Chairman
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FOCUS

on the important
things in life...

WE DO THE REST
The pandemic has not changed
your hopes of a better future for
your family and neither has it
changed ours.

FOR YOU
12
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd.

FROM TOP LEFT - Lorraine Raeburn - Chairman, Sharon A. Matthew-Edwards - Vice Chairman,
Sandra Derrick-Vice Chairman, Cassandra P. Simon- Vice Chairman, C. Davidson Charles - Director,
C. Kevin Silston - Director, C. Kamilah Roberts - Director, Desiree A. Zachariah - Director, Eric E.
Joseph - Director, Dyna M. Harney-Barnes - Director
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Corporate Social Responsibility Feature

FROM LEFT TO RIGHT
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
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ACB Team assisting with serving the residents of Fiennes Institute.
ACB Team Donation to Fiennes Institute.
ACB in partnership with Rotary Club of Antigua assisting in building awareness for the Directorate of Gender Affairs.
Donation to Rotary Club of Antigua by Joanna Charles - Antigua Commercial Bank, General Manager received by
Vanetta Rodgers - Immediate Past President Rotary Club of Antigua.
Donation of Computers to Good Shepherd Home for Girls in Partnership with Rotary Club of Antigua: (L-R) N. Shantia
Edwards – Marketing and Public Relations Representative at Antigua Commercial Bank, Roslyn Mulraine - House Mother,
Good Shepherd Home for Girls, and Vanetta Rodgers - Immediate Past President, Rotary Club of Antigua.
Fiennes Institute Team Appreciative for Assistance.
Finance, Accounting and Customer Care Donation: ACB Finance, Accounting and Customer Care Donation: ACB Team
donates to a disabled member of the community.
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FROM LEFT TO RIGHT
8.
9.

Children being treated to a photo with Santa at Carols in the Park.
Donation to Ex-Servicemen of Antigua and Barbuda in Partnership with Rotary Club of Antigua: – (L-R) N. Shantia
Edwards – Marketing and Public Relations Representative at Antigua Commercial Bank, Paget Messiah – Chairman of
the Antigua and Barbuda Ex-Servicemen Association, Johnson Browne – President of the Antigua and Barbuda ExServicemen Association and Vanetta Rodgers - Immediate Past President, Rotary Club of Antigua.
10. General Manager - Joanna Charles serving residents of Fiennes Institute.
11. Keeping the tradition of stilt walking alive at Carols in the Park 2019.
12. Gift Station at Carols in the Park 2019
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YOU

at the centre of
all we do

16
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We build Solutions
together
Our staff remain the heart and soul that drives
the organization. Their dedication and spirit
have kept the wheels turning and ensured that
our organization continue to deliver reliable
service in the midst of these trying times.

AROUND YOU
TABLE OF CONTENTS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ACB Mortgage & Trust Company Limited

TOP LEFT Peter Blanchard - Chairman, Lorraine Raeburn - Director, Sharon A. Matthew-Edwards Vice Chairman, Sandra Derrick - Director,
BOTTOM LEFT C. Davidson Charles - Director, Craig J. Walter - Director, Cassandra P. Simon Director
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Talent Management and
Recognition

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT

Risk Champion Training Programme

The 2019/2020 fiscal saw Antigua Commercial Bank
(“the Group”) continuing its commitment to exposing its
staff to training and development opportunities. It must
be noted that due to the COVID-19 pandemic, a number
of training programmes, workshops and webinars
were either cancelled or postponed to a later date.
Nonetheless, the Group spent over $100K in training
and development during the fiscal.

An employee selected from each department, also
known as a “Risk Champion”, was trained by the
Risk and Compliance Department on Enterprise
Risk Management concepts and applications.
Each risk champion obtained a certificate upon
completion of the training.

IN-HOUSE PROGRAMMES & ACTIVITIES
• Financial Statement Analysis Training for Credit
Staff
Members of the Corporate Banking, Retail Lending
and Recoveries Departments were exposed to a
1.5-day virtual workshop in analyzing financial
statements. This online training was hosted by
CariCRIS (Caribbean Information & Credit Rating
Services Limited) based in Trinidad.
• AML/CFT Training for ACB Staff

EXTERNAL TRAINING

Peters-Nicholls & Associates continued to
provide Anti-Money Laundering refresher training
sessions to our employees, educating staff on the
most recent money laundering schemes and antimoney laundering policies, practices and trends.

•

Antigua Commercial Bank also took advantage of
external training opportunities. During the financial year,
external training opportunities have been afforded to
employees from various departments, namely, Human
Resources, Legal / Secretariat, Finance, Accounting
& Customer Support, Information Systems, Customer
Relations & Service Quality, ACB Mortgage & Trust,
Audit, Risk Management & Compliance, Marketing &
Corporate Communications, Corporate Banking and
Retail Lending & Recoveries.
All staff members, including management, were given
the opportunity during the period to participate in various
training sessions, namely: Prosci Change Management
Certification, FIBA Certification Program, The Role
of Human Resources in Strategic Leadership, Digital
Marketing Strategy Workshop, Marketing Analytics,

18
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Talent Management Training, Driving Organizational
Change Workshop and Financial Statement Analysis.
The Change Management Training, facilitated by
PROSCI, was completed by all Management and
Supervisory staff. Each participant obtained their
certification upon completion of the course. In the
upcoming fiscal, staff members with leadership
potential will be similarly exposed to the PROSCI
Change Management training workshops.

WEBINARS/CONFERENCES/SEMINARS
Directors and employees’ exposure to webinars,
conferences and seminars included participation in AntiMoney Laundering Training, the Caribbean Association
of Banks Conference, Information Technology related
sessions, Jack Henry Conference and various webinars
offered by local, regional and international entities
including Peters-Nicholls & Associates Ltd., Caribbean
Association of Banks, IBIS Management Associates and
Jack Henry & Associates.

TEAM BUILDING

Members of the Credit team completed a week long site
visit at the Bank of St. Lucia where they observed the
Loan Origination process with a view to establish similar
systems at ACB.

This fiscal year we did something different. Each
department was challenged to find creative ways to
engage their staff that enabled them to build camaraderie
among their teams. This activity had to be completed
by December 31, 2019. Some teams opted to have a
department lunch, while others decided to engage in
community service and cooking lessons. At the January
2020 General Staff Meeting, members from each team
was asked to share their experience with the entire staff
body. Based on the positive feedback relayed, it was
noted that plans were already being made for future
activities.
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STAFF RECOGNITION
The Group’s Annual Employee Awards event was held
on January 4, 2020 at Royalton Resort & Spa under
the theme, “Re-New Year”. The Award Categories and
Winners were as follows:
• Employee of the Year
– Mrs. Dawn Daley-McCoy
• Manager of the Year Award
– Ms. Joyanne Byers & Mrs. Helen Looby
• Outstanding Supervisor of the Year Award
– Mrs. Takisha Richardson
• Self-Development & Personal Growth Award
– Ms. Deriece Barnes
• Top Customer Service Representative Award
– Ms. Krystal Perry

20

• Top Sales Person of the Year, Non-Customer
Facing
– Mr. Gerande Nathaniel
• Top Sales Person of the Year, Customer Facing
– Mr. Cecil Joyce
• Top Credit Officer of the Year, Retail
– Mrs. Arlene Joseph-Samuel
• Top Credit Officer of the Year, Mortgages
– Mr. Alban Bass
• Top Credit Officer of the Year, Corporate
– Ms. Saloane Joseph
• Outstanding Team Award
– Customer Relations & Service Quality
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Now, in its fourth year, the Group paid out over $14K
to staff under the Sales Incentive Programme. The
Group is presently creating other incentive and reward
programmes designed to encourage and recognize
employees who embrace the Group’s iCreate value
propositions. New programmes will be designed to
motivate staff to innovate and introduce new processes
and procedures which would ultimately improve service
quality throughout the Group.
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SUPPORTING
OUR EMPLOYEES
THROUGH
COVID-19

We are immensely proud of our Staff. They have demonstrated tremendous resilience
over the past year, and have shown that, regardless of the circumstances, they will go
over and above to support our customers, communities, and one another, while working
to deliver value for our shareholders.
The health and wellbeing of our employees continues to be of the utmost importance to
us and we are proud to do what we can to support them, as they support our customers.
Across the Group, our teams are working together better than ever before.
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, we proactively deployed extensive measures to
ensure our premises remain as safe as possible while supporting the wellbeing of all
employees. These measures include:
• Reconfigured workspaces, installing protective plexiglass dividers
• Increased sanitization in key areas
• Supported employees who for a period, transitioned to remote work
arrangements by providing internet and VPN access.

22
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

OVERVIEW
Strong corporate governance is one of the key elements to maintaining trust in any organization and the Antigua
Commercial Bank Group (“the Group”, “the Company”) remains cognisant of the importance of adhering to both
regional and international best practices, as they continue to evolve. Our commitment remains unwavering to
transparency, integrity and accountability and fits squarely within this year’s Annual Report theme of “Building
a Future for YOU”, as aligned with the Group’s strategic objectives. Our governance philosophy encompasses
regulatory and legal requirements, guided by a high standard of business ethics, effective oversight and the
enhancement of value for all stakeholders.
Led by a dynamic Chairman, Board Members possess a diverse set of skills, experience and perspectives, a feature
of the Board that has been critical to the Group’s long term viability. During the second quarter of fiscal 2020, the
Board demonstrated the flexibility of our governance structure, when in the face of health and safety protocols
related to the COVID-19 pandemic, virtual Board and Sub- Committee meetings became the norm. Supported by
our able IT team, the Board was able to seamlessly continue its work while at the same time improving the efficiency
of the decision making process.
Additionally, for the first time in its history, the Group hosted a virtual Shareholders Forum in August, 2020 and
further engaged with its Shareholders, in spite of continuing restrictions. Further, with the recently approved
amendments to the Group’s Bylaws at our Special Shareholders Meeting held in December, 2020, the Group will
realize another first, by hosting our 65th Annual General Meeting online, enabled by a digitally supported platform.
We have learnt that by effectively utilizing remote technology, good governance will not only be preserved but it will
be enhanced. We take this opportunity to express our appreciation to you our Shareholders, who have embraced
these changes and continue to offer your support.
The Board is pleased to present this Report, detailing key features of its governance framework and highlighting its
work throughout the financial year ended September 30, 2020.
OUR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Group’s Structure is based on an effective Board and the separation of the Board’s oversight role from
Management, as guided by its Board Charter and supplemented by the respective Terms of Reference for its SubCommittees. This framework is reviewed on a bi- annual basis to ensure that it reflects current best practices and
applicable rules and regulations relevant to the banking industry.
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During the financial year under review, the Board adopted a Shared Governance Model which is founded on the
cornerstone principles of partnership, equity, accountability and ownership that promotes collaboration and shared
decision making. The salient features of this model include:
•

partnership between staff and leadership

•

inclusion of input from relevant stakeholders

•

aiming for consensus decisions

•

being facilitative rather than directive

•

listening to all perspectives as much as possible

•

shared accountability

•

team ownership

•

consistent and trustworthy communication to stakeholders.

THE ROLE OF OUR BOARD
The role of the Board of Directors has two (2) fundamental elements:
•

setting the strategic agenda for the Group and

•

providing oversight.

The Board reserves the right to make certain decisions and delegates others to Management. In fulfilling their
responsibilities, Directors are expected to exercise independent business judgment which they reasonably believe
to be in the best interests of the Group. Ultimately, the Board bears accountability for the performance of the Group.

24
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RESPONSIBILITY
Conduct and
culture

ACTIVITIES
•
•

Strategic Planning

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Governance

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Oversaw the Group’s culture of integrity in dealing with customers, communities and
other stakeholders, in working together, on how we do business and in safeguarding
entrusted assets
Promoted a respectful and safe working environment.
Implemented strategic initiatives identified in Year 1 under the Group’s Strategic Plan
2019-2022
Participated in strategic review sessions and change management focused training
Oversaw the Group’s strategic direction, plans and priorities and ensured that they
aligned with our risk appetite with quarterly reporting by Management
Reviewed and approved the Group’s Organizational Structure
Reviewed the results of the annual assessment of the Group’s performance
Examined capital management and enhancement strategies, developing a plan for
implementation within the short to medium term
Participated in potential asset acquisition related opportunities after detailed
assessment.
Monitored best governance practices and developed principles and guidelines
Enhanced the Directors Orientation Programme
Conducted refresher training for the disclosure and management of conflicts of
interests
Established appropriate structures and procedures to allow the Board to function
effectively and independently
Assessed the performance of the Board based on select parameters, addressing areas
identified for improvement
Implemented as a standard procedure, the conduct of feedback surveys after any
Shareholder event to better inform decisions relating thereto
Examined the option to outsource the management of the Share Registry to bring
further transparency to the handling of shareholder related transactions.

During the financial year ended September 30, 2020, the following new policies and
procedures were approved:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Pandemic Preparedness, Response and Continuity Plan
Virtual Meeting Guidelines
Remote Work Policy
Guidelines for Implementing Work from Home, Staff Rotations and Split Shifts (under
COVID-19)
Workplace Guidelines under COVID-19
Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SME) Policy
Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SME) Underwriting Guide
New Director Buddy System Guidelines
Executive Home Security Protection Policy
Post- Retirement Employment Policy & Procedure
Workplace Non- Fraternization & Inter-Personal Relationship Policy Guidelines
Disclaimer (ACB Website)
Privacy and Security (ACB Website)
Manual on the Internal Handling and Outsourcing of Legal Matters.

Workplace safety and security was a main focus during the period.
Reviews of the Group’s existing policies and procedures continued on a bi-annual basis, in
accordance with best practice.
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RESPONSIBILITY
Risk Management

ACTIVITIES
•
•
•
•

Technological
Enhancement

•
•
•

Financial reporting
and internal
controls

•
•
•
•

Talent management
and succession
planning

•
•
•

Oversaw the implementation of the Group’s Risk Appetite Framework
Promoted a strong risk management culture based on a clear understanding of
applicable risks, disciplined risk assessment, measurement procedures and continuous
monitoring
With the assistance of Consultants, conducted a wholesale review of the Group’s
Enterprise-Wide Risk Management Framework
Implemented a forward-looking approach to risk management
Ensured that IT strategy is aligned with business strategy
Reviewed IT risks and approved substantial investment in the upgrade of the Group’s
Network Infrastructure
Oversaw the management of IT risks and ensured adequate resources to effectively
mitigate against identified risks
Oversaw compliance with applicable audit, accounting and financial reporting
requirements
Monitored Management’s implementation and maintenance of effective internal control
systems, including management information systems and assessed their adequacy and
effectiveness
Ensured the Group has a mechanism of testing controls at regular intervals for their
design and operating effectiveness to ascertain the reliability and authenticity of
financial information
Approved the annual audited financial reports.
Reviewed strategies and programmes for assessment and development of talent
Supervised succession planning processes which included the selection, appointment
and development of the General Manager and the Group’s Management Team
Bi-annually reviewed and approved the mandate of the General Manager and the
Management Team.

OUR CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT
The Group’s Code of Business Conduct promotes standards of desired behaviors that apply to Directors, Managers
and all Employees and includes the responsibility to be truthful, respect others, comply with laws, regulations and
our policies and engage in business practices that are fair and not misleading.
The Board closely collaborates with Management to set the tone from the top and champions the core values which
guide the way the Group operates. For us, leadership is about setting the required standards and serving as an
example for others.
DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The Board comprises of Non- Executive Directors that do not participate in the day-to-day administration of
the Group, nor engage in any business dealings or other relationships with the Group (other than circumstances
permitted by applicable regulations). This ensures that Directors remain capable of exercising independent
judgment and act in the best interests of the Group.

26
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The Group ensures that all Independent Non- Executive Directors possess the following qualities:
•

satisfy the fit and proper requirements, as provided under the Banking Act, 2015 (as amended)

•

maintain strict confidentiality as mandated under the annual Declaration of Secrecy obligations

•
the ability to challenge the assumptions, beliefs or viewpoints of others with reasoned
		
questioning, constructive debating and objective decision-making in the overall interests of the
		Group and
•

an understanding of the Group’s:

			

(a)

business, identifying opportunities and potential risks

			(b)

culture

			(c)

people

			(d)

policies and processes

			

the wider industry, preparing for eventualities.

(e)

OUR CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY
In practice, conflicts of interest can arise as a result of personal, professional and contractual arrangements,
directorships and other business interests. To adequately control this area of risk, the Group maintains a Conflict
of Interest Policy which is designed to ensure that high standards of conduct and integrity feature throughout the
organization. With respect to the Board, Directors are required to sign a Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement
on a tri-annual basis, with a further requirement to update that Statement during each period, as circumstances
change.
OUR COMMITMENT TO HELPING OUR DIRECTORS SUCCEED IN THEIR ROLE
The Board strives to ensure that new Directors receive a thorough introduction to the role and that all Directors have
access to the resources they need to focus on ongoing professional development. The Governance & Executive
Committee oversees the Group’s Director Recruitment and Orientation Programme to ensure that the transition
process is seamless, equipping Directors with the right tools to perform their respective duties and responsibilities.
As part of the Group’s commitment to supporting the continued professional development of its Directors, the
following seminars and conferences were attended during the financial year:
•

CAB CEO Forum 2020– Caribbean Association of Banks

•

Chartered Governance Institute of Canada- Directors Education and Accreditation Programme

•

BankDirector.com- Protect Your Sensitive Data from the Inside First

•

Caribbean Corporate Governance Training Institute 2020 Programmes:
•

Executive Compensation and Covid-19

•

Audit and Risk Committees and Covid-19

•

Building a Competency Based Board

•

Board Responsibilities and Covid-19

•

Board Oversight of the Organization’s Culture during Turbulent Times.
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In addition to the above, Directors’ knowledge base was broadened by the internal distribution of articles from
reputable publications within the industry, with titles to include:
•

What do Directors need to know about cyber-threats?

•

How Banks should prepare for first quarter earnings amid COVID-19?

•

How are Corporate Boards Responding to the COVID-19 Crisis?

•

Life After Lockdown: A Playbook for Crisis Recovery, Resiliency, and Restarting Right.

The majority of our Directors have been accredited through the Director’s Education and Accreditation Programme
(DEAP) offered by the Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange (ECSE) in collaboration with the Chartered
Governance Institute of Canada. New Directors are currently pursuing accreditation in compliance with relevant
policy provisions.
OUR BOARDS OF DIRECTORS
The Group’s Boards of Directors (Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd. and ACB Mortgage & Trust Company Limited) are
comprised of diverse and committed professionals, who demonstrate a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the Group’s business. The profiles of our Directors can be viewed on our website under the
Investor Relations section at: https://www.acbonline.com/about_directors.aspx. We are fortunate to have Directors
of their caliber and respective experience on our Boards.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS – ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD. (ACB BOARD)
Article 4.2 of the Company’s Bylaws provides that there shall be not less than seven (7) or more than fifteen (15)
Directors. At present, the ACB Board comprises ten (10) non- executive Directors in accordance with this Article.
As at September 30, 2020, Lorraine Raeburn is the appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors, assisted by her
Vice - Chairmen, Sharon A. Matthew- Edwards, Sandra Derrick and Cassandra P. Simon. The remaining Members
of the Board are C. Davidson Charles, C. Kevin Silston, C. Kamilah Roberts, Desiree A. Zachariah, Eric E. Joseph
and Dyna M. Harney-Barnes.  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS - ACB MORTGAGE & TRUST COMPANY LIMITED (TRUST COMPANY BOARD)
With respect to the composition of the Board of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, ACB Mortgage & Trust
Company Limited, Article 4.3 of the Company’s Bylaws provides that the Board may comprise of five (5) ACB
Directors and two (2) Directors selected by the ACB Board from the Shareholders of ACB. As at September 30,
2020, non- ACB Director, Peter Blanchard, is the appointed Chairman assisted by his Vice - Chairman, Sharon A.
Matthew-Edwards and other ACB Directors namely, Lorraine Raeburn, Sandra Derrick, Cassandra P. Simon and C.
Davidson Charles and non- ACB Director, Craig J. Walter.
OUR RETIRING DIRECTORS
Article 4.4 (a) of the Company’s Bylaws stipulates as follows:
“At every Ordinary General Meeting one- third of the Directors shall retire from office. The Directors to
retire shall be those who have been longest in office since their last election. As between Directors of equal
seniority in office, the Directors to retire shall be selected from among them by lot. A retiring Director shall be
immediately, or at any future time, if still qualified, be eligible for re-election.”
Additionally, Article 4.5 of the Company’s Bylaws provides as follows:
“Tenure: Unless his tenure is sooner determined, a Director shall hold office for a period not exceeding three
years from the date from which he is elected or appointed or until the close of the third Annual Meeting of the
Shareholders next following but he shall be eligible for re-election, if qualified.”
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Further, section 3 of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2009, limits the tenure of Directors of Public Companies to
ten (10) consecutive years, at which point Directors would be ineligible to be re-elected to the Board. The Act also
provides for two (2) years to elapse prior to that Director again becoming eligible to serve on the Board.
At this year’s Annual General Meeting, the following three (3) Directors will retire upon rotation:
•

Sharon A. Matthew-Edwards (elected on April 23, 2015)

•

Sandra Derrick (elected on April 23, 2015)

•

C. Davidson Charles (elected on December 28, 2017).

All three (3) Directors remain eligible and offer themselves for re-election. As at the date of the publication of this
Annual Report, no nominations to the Office of Director had been received by the Group.
Accordingly, based on the above, the number of Directors to be elected at this year’s Annual General Meeting is
three (3).
OUR BOARD MEETINGS
Technology continues to feature prominently in the Board’s work and as such, to ensure timely access to information
prior to each Board and Board Sub- Committee meeting, the Group utilizes a secure Board Portal. During the financial
year under review, a comprehensive assessment of the Board Portal was undertaken with a view to improving Board
efficiency and effectiveness and the decision was made to replace the Portal with a more modernized Board app,
suited to the Group’s changing needs.
During the period, October 1, 2019 to September 30, 2020, the ACB Board of Directors hosted fourteen (14)
monthly Meetings and held seven (7) Special Board Meetings. Director attendance ranged from 91% to 100%.
DIRECTORS

ATTENDANCE

PERCENTAGE

Required

Actual

Lorraine Raeburn - Chairman

21

21

100%

Sharon A. Matthew Edwards- Vice Chairman

21

21

100%

Sandra Derrick - Vice Chairman

21

21

100%

Cassandra P. Simon -Vice Chairman

21

20

95%

C. Davidson Charles

21

19

91%

C. Kevin Silston

21

19

91%

C. Kamilah Roberts

21

20

95%

Desiree A. Zachariah (*elected on January 30, 2020)

14

14

100%

Eric E. Joseph (*elected on January 30, 2020)

14

14

100%

Dyna M. Harney-Barnes (*elected on January 30, 2020)

14

14

100%

With respect to the Board of Directors for ACB Mortgage & Trust Company Limited, during fiscal 2020, the Board
hosted twelve (12) monthly Board Meetings and held one (1) Special Board Meeting. Director attendance ranged
from 77% to 100%.
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DIRECTORS

ATTENDANCE

PERCENTAGE

Required

Actual

Peter Blanchard - Chairman

13

13

100%

Sharon A. Matthew-Edwards - Vice Chairman

13

13

100%

Lorraine Raeburn  

13

13

100%

Sandra Derrick

13

13

100%

Cassandra P. Simon (*appointed on February 19, 2020)

7

7

100%

C. Davidson Charles (*appointed on February 19, 2020)

7

7

100%

Craig J. Walter

13

10

77%

OUR BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES

The current standing Sub-Committees of the Board are:
•

GOVERNANCE & EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE - Lorraine Raeburn (Chairman)

•

CREDIT COMMITTEE – Cassandra P. Simon (Chairman)

•

AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – Sharon A. Matthew – Edwards (Chairman)

•

HUMAN RESOURCE & COMPENSATION COMMITTEE – C. Kevin Silston (Chairman)

•

TECHNOLOGY COMMITTEE – Sandra Derrick (Chairman)

•

SCHOLARSHIP SCREENING COMMITTEE – C. Kamilah Roberts (Chairman).

Each Sub- Committee reports directly to the Board and is guided by its Terms of Reference which details the
duties and responsibilities of the Committee as well as procedures for committee member appointment, committee
structure and operations and reporting to the Board.
The Board may from time to time, establish or maintain additional Sub- Committees as deemed necessary or
appropriate.
OUR APPROACH TO DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Experienced, focused and talented Directors are essential to achieving the Group’s strategic objectives and providing
effective guidance and oversight of Management. The Governance & Executive Committee is responsible for all
aspects of Directors’ remuneration and conducts periodic reviews, taking into account industry trends in this area,
the overall expertise and experience required to sit on the Board and the expected time commitment required of
Directors.
Shareholders are responsible for approving Directors’ fees, upon the recommendation of the Board, at the Annual
General Meeting. After due consideration, the Board has resolved to recommend that Directors’ fees remain
unchanged, that is to say:
•

Chairman’s fees - $5500 per month

•

Directors’ fees - $4500 per month.

Directors who are appointed to represent the Group at conferences, seminars or training courses, are entitled to
be paid for their travelling and other expenses, as reasonably incurred, in accordance with the Group’s Overseas
Travel Policy.
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DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
Article 4.3 of the Company’s Bylaws requires each ACB Director to be the holder of at least 1000 ordinary shares
in the Company.
As at September 30, 2020, Directors own the following shareholding interests in the Company:
DIRECTORS

NO. OF ORDINARY SHARES HELD

Lorraine Raeburn - Chairman

3,200

Sharon A. Matthew - Edwards - Vice Chairman

2,000

Sandra Derrick - Vice Chairman

14,980

Cassandra P. Simon -Vice Chairman

2,100

C. Davidson Charles

6,000

C.  Kevin Silston

6,004

C. Kamilah Roberts

3,000

Desiree A. Zachariah

4,090

Eric E. Joseph

2,000

Dyna M. Harney-Barnes

1,055

OUR SHAREHOLDING DISTRIBUTION
The Securities Act, 2001, defines a Substantial Shareholder as a person who has an interest in the shares of the
Company, the stated value of which is equal to or more than 5% of the issued shares of the Company. In accordance
with our disclosure obligations, it is noted that Shareholders, Sir Clare and Lady Roberts own 8.12% of the issued
shares in the Company as at September 30, 2020.
Shown below is an analysis of the Company’s shareholding as at September 30, 2020.
SIZE OF HOLDING

NO. OF SHAREHOLDERS PER
CATEGORY

NO. OF ORDINARY SHARES
HELD PER CATEGORY

1-999

4,256

974,968

1,000-1,999

421

551,348

2,000- 4,999

423

1,247,788

5,000-9,999

145

1,030,195

10,000-24,999

109

1,641,007

25,000-99,999

55

2,589,252

100,000-399,999

8

1,168,102

400,000-899,999

1

797,340

Total:

5,418

10,000,000

OUR SHAREHOLDER ENGAGEMENT PRACTICES
Open Dialogue with Shareholders is one of the Group’s key priorities. The Board encourages Shareholders to
provide timely and meaningful feedback and regularly reviews its engagement with Shareholders for alignment
with best practices.
Important Shareholder focused information to include our newest Brochure, “Shareholders Meetings: The ACB
Shareholder Voice” can be accessed under the Investor Relations section on the Group’s corporate website via link,
https://www.acbonline.com/investor_info.aspx.
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In accordance with Article 12.4 of the Company’s Bylaws, Annual General Meeting related information was uploaded
to the corporate website as at the approved record date, January 8, 2021.  Hard copies of all documents distributed
are available upon advance request addressed to the Legal/ Secretariat Department via email: ACBSecretariat@
acbonline.com or at 481-4331/4/5.
DIVIDEND
In accordance with Article 15.1 of the Company’s Bylaws, the Board has resolved to recommend a dividend
payment of $850K or $0.085 for each unit share on the existing shareholding distribution as at the record date,
March 1, 2021, for the financial year ended September 30, 2020.
The Board remains guided by the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 1995, the Banking Act, 2015 (as
amended) and the Group’s Capital Management and Dividend Policy. This decision is also in compliance with the
updated COVID-19 Regulatory Guidance on the payment of dividends issued by the Eastern Caribbean Central
Bank (ECCB) to all Licensed Financial Institutions (LFIs) dated January 25, 2021.
EXTERNAL AUDITORS
The External Auditors, KPMG, retiring and being eligible, offer themselves to be re- appointed as the Group’s
External Auditors for the financial year ending September 30, 2021. The Directors have resolved to recommend to
the Shareholders the subject re- appointment.
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RHODETTE PAIGE
LEGAL COUNSEL/ CORPORATE SECRETARY
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INNOVATION
drives our ability to adapt
to the demands of an
ever–changing world

POWER TO DELIVER
MORE...
More than ever we are enhancing
and upgrading our technologies to
meet the needs of our customers as
we ensure productivity and seamless
service delivery.

FOR YOU
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
“It is in times of adversity that leadership through unity of
purpose and vision becomes an indispensable core value as we
continue to BUILD an institution of strength and
stability while meeting the needs of every customer.”

Joanna Charles, General Manager
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OVERVIEW

GROSS
INTEREST
INCOME
GROSS
INTEREST INCOME

Furthermore, the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
(ECCB) projected Antigua & Barbuda’s Real GDP to
contract by 17.82% for 2020 in contrast to a growth
rate of 3.35% in 2019.
The Group’s results for this year reflected the
aforementioned, recording overall Profit for the year
of $3.4M, a sharp decline of approximately eightyfour percent (84%) compared to the prior year. The
contributing factors are further discussed below.

60

Amount in millions

In its report “World Economic Outlook Update, June
2020: A Crisis Like No Other, An Uncertain Recovery”,
the International Monetary Fund (IMF) projected
global contraction of 4.9% for 2020, 1.9% below the
April 2020 World Economic Outlook Forecast. It was
also acknowledged that the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic was more severe than envisaged and that
recovery is forecast to be more gradual than preliminary
assessments.
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The upcoming fiscal is expected to be just as challenging
as this one. In the spirit of agility and flexibility,
Management is reviewing its strategic priorities to
ensure that the objectives are in alignment with the
current environment.
INTEREST INCOME MIX
interest income mix - 2020

EARNINGS PER SHARE
This year’s Earnings per Share was significantly
impacted resulting in a reduction to $0.34, from the
$2.07 reported last fiscal.
EARNINGS
PER
SHARE
EARNINGS PER
SHARE
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INTEREST INCOME MIX
interest income mix - 2019
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GROSS INTEREST INCOME
The year-over-year fifteen percent (15%) reduction
in Gross Interest Income, was largely driven by the
successful liquidation of a long outstanding, large nonperforming facility in 2019 with significant gains, which
was not repeated this fiscal. Furthermore, the impact
of the global pandemic stunted the growth of the Loans
portfolio and also led to the reduction in interest rates on
investment facilities. Some interest rates fell below zero
when the pandemic was declared in March, 2020 and
remained at that level for the rest of the fiscal.
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OTHER OPERATING INCOME

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Other Operating Income increased by eleven percent
(11%), in spite of reduced transaction volumes brought
about by decelerated economic activity. The increase
was mainly due to the unrealized gain on a money market
portfolio in keeping with our strategy to diversify the
investment portfolio and due to an insurance settlement
received during fiscal 2020, arising from an IDC fraud
incident which occurred in the prior period.

The net effect of the above and other factors, was a
profit of $3.4M.

The current economic climate has encouraged financial
responsibility for a large number of customers, who have
somewhat curtailed their spending habits, in the face of
uncertainty. This resulted in a two percent (2%) growth
or $25M in the Deposit Liabilities which translated to
Interest Expense increasing by $0.290M or two percent
(2%).

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

25
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INTEREST EXPENSE
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FINANCIAL POSITION

interest EXPENSE

INTEREST EXPENSE

Despite the devastating impact felt worldwide, the
Group’s balance sheet remains strong with Assets
growing by approximately $17M, a one percent (1%)
increase from the previous financial year. This increase
is attributed to growth in customers’ deposits and
by extension an increase in Cash and Bank balances
of $51M. The latter was also supplemented by the
termination of investment securities in global markets
where interest rates fell below zero.
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OPERATING EXPENSES
The Group’s Operating Expenses reflected an increase
of thirty-six percent (36%) by approximately $15M when
compared to the prior year. The increase in the loan
loss provisions of approximately $11.7M was the main
contributor. The aforementioned was the outcome of
a change in the accounting for loan loss provision as we
sought to adopt a more prudent approach. Additionally,
the Group announced its plan to acquire the Royal
Bank of Canada Operations (Antigua and Grenada) in
December, 2019. The associated due diligence and
project management costs were $1.2M.

The 2% drop in Loans and Advances year-over-year,
reflects our continued challenges with increasing the
loan portfolio with good quality loans and advances,
even more so, in the current economic environment.
Our thrust next fiscal will be to grow the portfolio
responsibly from loans approved but undrawn and
reduce delinquency to single digits.
Given the
correlation between the movements in Loans and
Advances and Deposit Liabilities, a net decrease in the
Loan-to-Deposit ratio was recorded year-over-year to
64%.
LOANS
& ADVANCES
LOANS
& ADVANCES
2020
2019
2018
2017
2016
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CONCLUSION

DEPOSIT
LOANSGROWTH
& ADVANCES

Amidst all the challenges that fiscal 2020 presented,
Antigua Commercial Bank continues to hold strong. The
decision to retain and build capital is paying off for the
Group in these very turbulent times. The acquisition of
the Royal Bank of Canada, Antigua & Grenada operations
is expected to further boost revenue over time and by
extension further strengthen the balance sheet.

2020
2019
2018
2017
2016
850

1050

Amount in millions

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

1.96%

1.74%

1.62%

1.62%

0.26%

11.94%

10.00%

9.0%

8.50%

1.4%

Dividend
Payout
Percentage
of Income

18%

20%

20%

24%

25%

Book value
of ordinary
shares

18.64

20.26

21.84

24.46

23.84

2.23

2.03

1.97

2.07

0.34

Dividends
per ordinary
Share

0.40

0.40

0.40

0.50

0.085

Provisions as
a % of Loan
Portfolio

2.6%

2.2%

2.18%

4.12%

6.73%

Provisions as
a % of Nonperforming
Loan
Portfolio

16.42%

14.10%

14.43%

31.64%

51.57%

Efficiency
Ratio with
provisions

58.31%

62.55%

65.92%

68.92%

96.65%

Efficiency
Ratio without
provisions

59.57%

64.75%

65.64%

55.57%

63.56%

3.28%

3.27%

3.00%

4.10%

3.27%

25.49%

26.39%

26.01%

26.01%

26.30%

Return on
Assets
Return on
Equity

Earnings per
share

Net Interest
Margin
Total Capital
Adequacy
Ratio

I take this opportunity to once again thank the dedicated
teams for continuing to show strength and courage on
the front line during the period of great anxiety. We have
emerged stronger as a team and look to the future with
great anticipation and expectations.

Joanna Charles
General Manager
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MANAGEMENT TEAM
Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd. as at
September 30, 2020

FROM TOP LEFT Joanna Charles - General Manager, Peter N. Ashe - Manager-ACB Mortgage &
Trust Company Limited, Rhodette Paige -Legal Counsel/Corporate Secretary, Austen Gittens - Chief
Internal Auditor, Sharon Nathaniel- Manager-Risk and Compliance, Narcisse Moise - Senior ManagerCredit, Jonathan Lindsay - Manager- Customer Relations and Service Quality, Joyanne Byers - Chief
Financial Officer, Sidlow Frank - MIS Manager, Heidi Weste- Manager - Corporate Banking, Sherene
Bird - Human Resources Executive

38

Antigua Commercial Bank 2020 Annual Report | Building a Future for YOU
TABLE OF CONTENTS

MANAGEMENT TEAM
Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd. as at
September 30, 2020

FROM TOP LEFT Patricia Farrell - Acting Manager- Retail Lending and Recoveries, Marita Laurent Marketing & Corporate Communications Manager, Helen J. Looby - Operations and Accounting Officer
- ACB Mortgage & Trust Company Limited, Maria Abraham - Audit Officer, Trevor Smith Jr. - Finance
and Accounting Officer, Lois Teague - Assistant Manager - Customer Relations and Service Quality,
Stacey Forde - Assistant Manager Human Resources, Training and Development, Ishawn James Compliance Specialist, Alan Scholl - Project Manager, Anika Henry - Assistant Manager - Banking
Operations, Lenroy McAnuff - Information Security Officer
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EVOLUTION
is the change
we need to survive

Flexibility At
Work
We have found new,exciting and
innovative ways to stay in touch with
customers and employees in safe
spaces.

FOR YOU
40
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Consolidated Financial
Statements as at
September 30, 2020
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KPMG
nd
KPMG
2
Floor, ABI Financial Centre
ABI Street
Financial Centre
2nd Floor,
156
Redcliffe
156
Redcliffe
Street
P.O Box W388
P.OJohn’s
Box W388
St.
St. John’s
Antigua
Antigua
Telephone:
1 (268) 562-9172
Telephone: 1
(268) 562-9172
Email:
ecinfo@kpmg.ag
Email:
ecinfo@kpmg.ag
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd.
To the Shareholders of Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd.
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion
We
have audited the consolidated financial statements of Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd.
Opinion
and
its subsidiaries
Group”), which
comprise
the consolidated
statement ofBank
financial
We have
audited the(“the
consolidated
financial
statements
of Antigua Commercial
Ltd.
position
as at September
2020, which
the consolidated
statements
of income,
profit of
or loss
and
and its subsidiaries
(“the 30,
Group”),
comprise the
consolidated
statement
financial
other
comprehensive
income,
changes
in equity and statements
cash flows for
the year profit
then ended,
position
as at September
30, 2020,
the consolidated
of income,
or loss and
notes,
comprising significant
andcash
otherflows
explanatory
information.
other comprehensive
income,accounting
changes inpolicies
equity and
for the year
then ended, and
notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material
respects,
consolidated financial
position
of the Group
as at September
30, 2020,
In our opinion,
thetheaccompanying
consolidated
financial
statements
present fairly,
in all
and its consolidated
performance
its consolidated
for the year
then
material
respects, thefinancial
consolidated
financialand
position
of the Groupcash
as atflows
September
30, 2020,
ended
accordancefinancial
with International
Financial
Standards
(IFRS).
and
its in
consolidated
performance
and itsReporting
consolidated
cash flows
for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
Basis
for Opinion
responsibilities
under
those
standards are
described
in the Auditors’
Responsibilities
We
conducted our
audit
in accordance
withfurther
International
Standards
on Auditing
(ISAs). Our
for the Audit ofunder
the those
Consolidated
Financial
Statements
of our Responsibilities
report. We are
responsibilities
standards
are further
described section
in the Auditors’
independent
in accordance
withStatements
International
Ethicsof Standards
for
for
the Audit ofofthe
theGroup
Consolidated
Financial
section
our report.Board
We are
Accountants’ ofInternational
of Ethics
Professional
Accountants
(including
independent
the Group inCode
accordance
with for
International
Ethics
Standards Board
for
International Independence
together with Accountants
the ethical requirements
Accountants’
International Standards)
Code of (IESBA
Ethics Code)
for Professional
(including
that are relevant
to our audit
of the (IESBA
consolidated
financial with
statements
in requirements
the Eastern
International
Independence
Standards)
Code) together
the ethical
Caribbean
and we to
have
ourthe
other
ethical responsibilities
in accordance
with
these
that
are relevant
ourfulfilled
audit of
consolidated
financial statements
in the
Eastern
requirements
and
IESBA
Code.
believe
that
the audit evidence
we have obtained
is
Caribbean
and
wethe
have
fulfilled
ourWe
other
ethical
responsibilities
in accordance
with these
sufficient and and
appropriate
to provide
a basis
for our
requirements
the IESBA
Code. We
believe
thatopinion.
the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other Information
Management
is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Other
Information
information included
in theforGroup’s
ReportThe
2020
does notcomprises
include the
Management
is responsible
the otherAnnual
information.
otherbut
information
consolidatedincluded
financial in
statements
and our
auditors’
report
thereon.
The Annual
Reportthe
is
information
the Group’s
Annual
Report
2020
but does
not include
expected to be
made available
to us
after
date of report
this auditors’
report.
consolidated
financial
statements
and
ourthe
auditors’
thereon.
The Annual Report is
expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we
will not
any form financial
of assurance
conclusion
Our
opinion
on express
the consolidated
statements
doesthereon.
not cover the other information
and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to
read
the otherwith
information
above when
it becomes
available
and, in doingisso,
In
connection
our audit identified
of the consolidated
financial
statements,
our responsibility
to
consider
whether
the otheridentified
information
is materially
inconsistent
with and,
the consolidated
read
the other
information
above
when it becomes
available
in doing so,
financial statements
our knowledge
in theinconsistent
audit, or otherwise
to be
consider
whether theorother
informationobtained
is materially
with theappears
consolidated
materiallystatements
misstated. or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
financial
materially misstated.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
To the Shareholders of Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd.
Other Information (cont’d)
When we read the Group’s 2020 Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with
governance.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

2
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
To the Shareholders of Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(cont’d)
•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Accountants
February 19, 2021
Antigua and Barbuda

3
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ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL
BANK LTD.
As at September
30, 2020 with comparative figures for 2019
Consolidated Statement of Financial
Positionin Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
(Expressed
As at September 30, 2020
with comparative figures for 2019
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Notes
Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Statutory deposit
Loans and advances
Other assets
Investment securities
Property and equipment
Right-of-use asset
Pension asset

8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17

Total Assets
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Income tax payable
Deposits due to customers
Lease liability
Provisions and other liabilities
Deferred tax liability

21
18
16
19
21

$

2020

2019

133,128,669
184,531,368
95,694,151
6,869,059
659,165,380
21,428,477
153,813,115
34,739,303
516,351
7,128,904

169,110,446
97,482,109
89,836,565
5,965,440
674,762,574
15,434,041
184,810,677
34,529,550
7,561,763

$

1,297,014,777 1,279,493,165

$

1,335,016
3,826,505
1,033,687,159 1,008,480,032
518,599
19,295,397
16,793,189
3,589,557
5,775,417

Total Liabilities

1,058,425,728 1,034,875,143

Equity
Stated capital
Statutory reserve
Other reserves
Retained earnings

23
24
25

Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

$

36,000,000
26,059,962
70,978,497
105,550,590

36,000,000
26,059,962
75,160,350
107,397,710

238,589,049

244,618,022

1,297,014,777 1,279,493,165

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 19, 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Chairman

Director

Director

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Income
ANTIGUA
COMMERCIAL
BANK
LTD.
For
the year
ended September
30, 2020 with comparative figures for 2019
ANTIGUA
COMMERCIAL
BANK LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Income(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
For the year ended September 30, 2020
As at September 30, 2020
with comparative figures for 2019
with comparative figures for 2019
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Notes
Interest income
Assets
Income from loans and advances
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Income from deposits with other banks and investments
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Statutory deposit
Loans and advances
Interest expense
Other assets
Savings accounts
Investment securities
Time deposits and current accounts
Property and equipment
Investment expenses
Right-of-use asset
Pension asset

2020

Notes
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17

$

Total Assets
Net interest income

2020

2019

2019

45,325,045
52,366,010
$
133,128,669
169,110,446
9,855,992
12,237,396
184,531,368
97,482,109
95,694,151
89,836,565
55,181,037
64,603,406
6,869,059
5,965,440
659,165,380
674,762,574
21,428,477
15,434,041
10,643,060
10,117,888
153,813,115
184,810,677
4,138,411
4,393,344
34,739,303
34,529,550
48,624
28,777
516,351
7,128,904
7,561,763
14,830,095
14,540,009
$
1,297,014,777 1,279,493,165
40,350,942
50,063,397

Liabilities and Equity
Other operating income
Liabilities
Income tax payable
Total income
Deposits due to customers
Lease liability
Operating expenses
Provisions and other liabilities
General and administrative expenses
Deferred tax liability
Depreciation
Depreciation on right-of-use asset
Total Liabilities
Directors’ fees and expenses
Provision for loan impairment
Equity
Provision for impairment of other financial assets
Stated capital
Property – revaluation adjustment
Statutory reserve
Other reserves
Retained earnings

26

29
15
16
22
12
32
15

18,767,525
21
18
16
19
21

16,927,728

$
1,335,016
3,826,505
59,118,467
66,991,125
1,033,687,159 1,008,480,032
518,599
19,295,397
16,793,189
28,648,511
28,923,335
3,589,557
5,775,417
2,263,820
2,198,204
309,811
1,058,425,728 1,034,875,143
949,437
944,182
22,609,895
10,874,896
1,861,576
7,790
36,000,000
36,000,000
(1,300,392)
26,059,962
26,059,962
70,978,497
75,160,350
56,643,050
41,648,015
105,550,590
107,397,710

23
24
25

Profit before tax
Total Equity

2,475,417
25,343,110
238,589,049
244,618,022

Taxation
Total Liabilities and Equity
Current tax expense
Deferred tax (credit) expense

$

1,297,014,777 1,279,493,165
990,667
3,888,538
(1,945,628)
719,141

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 19, 2021 and signed on its behalf by:
21
(954,961)
4,607,679
Profit for the year
Earnings per share

Chairman

27

$

3,430,378

20,735,431

$

0.34

2.07

Director

Director
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ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
ANTIGUA
COMMERCIAL
BANK
LTD.
For
the year
ended
September
30, 2020 with comparative figures for 2019
ANTIGUA
COMMERCIAL
BANK LTD.
Consolidated
Statement
of Profit of
or
Loss andin
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Expressed
Eastern
Caribbean Dollars)
Consolidated
Statement
Financial
Position
For the year
September
30, 2020
As atended
September
30, 2020
with comparative
figures
for
2019
with comparative figures for 2019
(Expressed
in Eastern
Dollars) Dollars)
(Expressed
in Caribbean
Eastern Caribbean

Notes
Profit for the year
Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Due from other banks
Other comprehensive income:
Treasury bills
Statutory deposit
Items net of tax that will never be reclassified
Loans and advances
subsequently to profit or loss:
Other assets
Investment securities
Increase in fair value of FVOCI equity securities,
Property and equipment
net of taxes of $1,980 (2019: $1,979)
Right-of-use asset
Pension asset
Revaluation surplus due to increase in
fair value of property
Total Assets

2020

Notes
$

25

8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17

133,128,669
184,531,368
95,694,151
6,869,059
659,165,380
21,428,477
153,813,115
34,739,303
3,336,529
516,351
7,128,904

(710,357)
21
18
16
19
21

$
$

2019

169,110,446
97,482,109
89,836,565
5,965,440
674,762,574
15,434,041
184,810,677
34,529,550
5,934
7,561,763

585,000
1,297,014,777 1,279,493,165

$

17

2019

20,735,431

$

15

Actuarial loss for the year, net of taxes of
Liabilities and Equity
$236,786 (2019: $280,844)
Liabilities
Income tax payable
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Deposits due to customers
Lease liability
Total comprehensive income for the year
Provisions and other liabilities
Deferred tax liability

3,430,378

2020

(842,534)

$
1,335,016
3,826,505
2,626,172
(251,600)
1,033,687,159 1,008,480,032
518,599
6,056,550
20,483,831
19,295,397
16,793,189
3,589,557
5,775,417

Total Liabilities

1,058,425,728 1,034,875,143

Equity
Stated capital
Statutory reserve
Other reserves
Retained earnings

23
24
25

Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

$

36,000,000
26,059,962
70,978,497
105,550,590

36,000,000
26,059,962
75,160,350
107,397,710

238,589,049

244,618,022

1,297,014,777 1,279,493,165

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 19, 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Chairman

Director

Director

The notes
are
an integral
of these
consolidated
financialfinancial
statements.
The
notes
are an part
integral
part of
these consolidated
statements.
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ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ANTIGUA
COMMERCIAL
BANK
LTD.
For the year ended September
30, 2020 with comparative figures for 2019
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
For the year ended September 30, 2020
with comparative figures for 2019
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

2020

2019

3,430,378

20,735,431

22,609,895
1,861,577
2,573,631
34,213
(114,757)
(55,181,037)
14,830,095
(954,961)

10,874,896
7,790
2,198,204
(173,144)
(1,300,392)
(64,603,406)
14,540,009
4,607,679

Cash flows used in operating activities before changes
in operating assets and liabilities
Change in statutory deposit
Change in other receivables and other assets
Change in loans and advances
Change in deposits due to customers
Change in provisions and other liabilities

(10,910,966)
(903,619)
(11,383,390)
(4,116,442)
25,018,302
2,252,946

(13,112,933)
(90,628)
6,219,102
(31,519,633)
35,585,840
(3,320,181)

Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities before interest,
taxes and pension contributions
Interest received
Interest paid
Taxes paid
Pension contributions paid

(43,169)
52,767,394
(14,641,270)
(3,482,156)
(399,527)

(6,238,433)
63,123,298
(14,526,400)
(1,184,051)
(402,495)

Net cash flows provided by operating activities

34,201,272

40,771,919

Cash flows from investing activities
Redemption of investment securities
Redemption (Purchase) of short-term investments
Purchase of property and equipment
Purchase of investment securities

39,908,997
10,000,000
(2,507,786)
(49,045,890)

19,843,110
(25,000,000)
(2,230,555)
(52,292,708)

(1,644,679)

(59,680,153)

(320,811)
(5,000,000)

(4,000,000)

(5,320,811)

(4,000,000)

27,235,782
203,193,718

(22,908,234)
226,101,952

230,429,500

203,193,718

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year
Items not affecting cash:
Provision for loan impairment
Provision for impairment of other financial assets
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of PPE
Pension income
Property revaluation adjustment
Interest income
Interest expense
Tax (credit) expense

Notes
$
12
32
15, 16
17
15
21

15

Net cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of lease liabilities
Dividends paid

16
20

Net cash flows used in financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

28

$

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Reserve
Statutory
Reserve
Statutory

Reserve
Pension

Reserve
Loan
Loss
Regulatory

Earnings
Retained

34,997,809
Reserve
34,997,809-

107,397,710
Earnings
107,397,710
3,430,378

238,589,049

Total Equity
$

1,297,014,777 1,279,493,165

Director

8

8

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
4

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Chairman
8

Director

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 19, 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Total Liabilities and Equity

244,618,022

22,572,436 7,461,949 25 5,902,922 7,128,904
27,912,286
105,550,590
70,978,497
75,160,350

107,397,710

26,059,962

244,618,022
Total
244,618,022
3,430,378

Total
Total

238,589,049

- 34,997,809- 107,397,710
3,430,378
3,430,378
(710,357) 244,618,022
2,626,172
7,561,763
1,335,016
3,826,505
(710,357)
2,626,172
2,720,021
6,056,550
3,430,378
3,430,378
1,033,687,159 1,008,480,032
2,720,021
6,056,550
(710,357)
2,626,172
518,599
19,295,397
16,793,189
(7,085,523)
(7,085,523)
2,720,0216,056,550
3,589,557
5,775,417
(7,085,523)
(7,085,523)
(432,859)
432,859(432,859)
432,859(7,085,523)
(7,085,523)
1,058,425,728
1,034,875,143
(5,000,000)
(5,000,000)
(432,859)
432,859
(5,000,000)
(5,000,000)
7,128,904 27,912,286 105,550,590 238,589,049
36,000,000
36,000,000
(5,000,000)
(5,000,000)
7,128,904 27,912,286 105,550,590 238,589,049

7,561,763
Reserve
7,561,763-

1,297,014,777
1,279,493,165
Reserve
Reserve
Earnings
Pension Loan
Retained
Loss

105,550,590

24

PPE
ReserveRevaluation
$
PPE
Reserve5,902,922
PPE
5,902,92221 5,902,922
$18
16
19
21
5,902,922
23
5,902,922

26,059,962

7,461,9497,461,949
7,461,949

7,461,949
Reserve
7,461,949-

Reserve
Capital
Reserve
Capital

26,059,962

26,059,962
26,059,962

19,235,907
Investments
19,235,9073,336,52919,235,907
3,336,5293,336,5293,336,52922,572,436
22,572,436

Revaluation
Investments
FVOCI
Reserve:
Investments
FVOCI

Statutory reserve
36,000,000
Other$ reserves
Retained earnings

20
25
20
Equity
$ 36,000,000
Stated
capital
20
$ 36,000,000

25
Total Liabilities

Liabilities
- 26,059,962$ 36,000,000
Income
tax payable
Deposits due to customers
Lease
liability
24
Provisions
and
other
liabilities
24
25
Deferred
tax liability
25
24

Notes $ 36,000,000
Capital 26,059,962
Reserve
Liabilities
and Equity
$ 36,000,000
- 26,059,962-

Notes
Capital
Stated
Total Assets
Notes
Capital
Stated

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Balance at September 30, 2020

Profit
for
the
year
Other
comprehensive
income
Balance
at September
30, 2019
Othercomprehensive
comprehensive
income
Total
income
Profit
for
the year
Total
income
Othercomprehensive
comprehensive
income
Transfer
to reserve fund
Transfer
toinreserve
Decrease
reservefund
for
loan loss
Total
comprehensive
income
Decreasetoinreserve
reserve
for
loan loss
pensionfund
reserve
Transfer
pension
reserve
Transactions
with owners
Decrease
in reserve
for
loan loss
Transactions
with owners
Dividends in
paid
Decrease
pension
reserve
Dividends paidwith owners
Transactions
Balance at September 30, 2020
Dividends paid
Balance at September 30, 2020

Balance at September 30, 2019
Balance
at September
30, 2019
Profit
for the
year

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

with comparative figures for 2019

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

$

133,128,669
169,110,446
184,531,368
97,482,109
95,694,151
89,836,565
6,869,059
5,965,440
659,165,380
674,762,574
Equity
Other
assets
13
21,428,477
For the
year ended September 30, 2020 with comparative
figures
for 2019 15,434,041
Investment securities
14
153,813,115
184,810,677
Property and equipment (Expressed
15
34,739,303
34,529,550
Revaluation
in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
Right-of-use asset
16
516,351
Reserve:
Revaluation
Regulatory
Revaluation
Stated
Statutory
FVOCI
Capital 17
Reserve- Pension
Loan Loss
Retained
Pension asset
7,128,904
7,561,763
Reserve:
Revaluation
Regulatory

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.
ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD. Assets
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
8
ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.
Due from other banks
9
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended September 30, 2020Treasury bills
10
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
with
comparative
figures
for 2019
ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.
For the
year ended
September
30, 2020Statutory deposit
11
with
comparative
figures
for
2019
Loans
and
advances
12
Consolidated Statement of Changes in
For the year ended September 30, 2020

Notes
Capital
Reserve
Capital
Stated
Total Assets
Notes
Capital

Investments
Reserve Investments
Reserve
Statutory
FVOCI
Reserve Investments

Reserve
PPE
Capital
Reserve

Reserve
Pension

Reserve
Earnings
Loan
Loss

Antigua Commercial Bank 2020 Annual Report | Building a Future for YOU

100,307,865
34,997,809 100,307,865
218,390,423 218,390,423
34,997,809 100,307,865 218,390,423

Director

9

Chairman
9

Total
Total

$

1,297,014,777 1,279,493,165

585,000
- (842,534)
(842,534)
(251,600) 20,735,431
(251,600)
20,735,431
1,058,425,728 1,034,875,143
(842,534) 20,483,831
(251,600)
585,000
19,892,897
19,892,897
20,483,831
585,00019,892,897
(2,600,590)
(2,600,590)- 20,483,83123(547,739) - (547,739)
36,000,000
36,000,000
547,739
547,739 (2,600,590)
24
26,059,962
26,059,962
- (547,739)
547,739
25
70,978,497
75,160,350
- (4,000,000)
(4,000,000)
(4,000,000) (4,000,000)
105,550,590
107,397,710
(4,000,000)
(4,000,000)
7,561,763
5,902,922 34,997,809
7,561,763 107,397,710
34,997,809 107,397,710
244,618,022 244,618,022
238,589,049
244,618,022
5,902,922 7,561,763 34,997,809 107,397,710 244,618,022

21
$
1,335,016
3,826,505
18
1,033,687,159
1,008,480,032
- (6,750,201)
(6,750,201)
9,743,768
9,743,768
16
518,599
(6,750,201)
9,743,768
19
19,295,397
16,793,189
8,109,502
5,317,922 34,997,809
8,109,502
34,997,809
93,557,664
228,134,191
93,557,664 228,134,191
21 5,317,922
3,589,557
5,775,417
93,557,664
- - 8,109,502
- 34,997,809
20,735,431
20,735,431
20,735,431 228,134,191
20,735,431

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
4

tes are The
an integral
notes are
partan
ofintegral
these consolidated
part of thesefinancial
consolidated
statements.
financial statements.
9
The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Earnings
Total
Retained

1,297,014,777
1,279,493,165
Reserve
Reserve
Earnings

8,109,502
5,317,922 34,997,809
8,109,502
5,317,922 8,109,502

Reserve
PPE
Reserve$
PPE

Director

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 19, 2021 and signed on its behalf by:
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1.

Nature of operations
The principal activity of Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd. (“the Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together “the
Group”), is the provision of commercial banking services. The Bank is licensed to carry on banking business
in Antigua and Barbuda and is regulated by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank in accordance with the
Banking Act No. 10 of 2015 and the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank Act No. 10 of 1983.
The significant subsidiary of the Group along with the ownership interest as at 2020 and 2019 is as follows:
▪

2.

ACB Mortgage and Trust Company Limited – 100% interest

General information and statement of compliance with IFRS
Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd. the Group’s ultimate parent company is a limited liability company
incorporated on October 19, 1955 in Antigua and Barbuda and continued under the provisions of the
Antigua Companies Act 1995. The Group’s registered office is located at St. Mary’s and Thames Streets,
St. John’s, Antigua.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
These consolidated financial statements were approved for issuance on February 19, 2021.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the
following material items in the statement of financial position that are measured at fair value:
•

Debt and equity investments measured at fair value through profit or loss

•

Equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income

•

Land and buildings measured at revalued amounts

•

Net defined benefit asset, which is measured at the fair value of plan assets less the present value of
the defined benefit obligation.

3.

Changes in accounting policies

3.1

Adoption of new or revised standards, amendments to standards and interpretations
IFRS 16 Leases
The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 Leases from October 1, 2019.
The Group applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the right-of-use assets
are equivalent to the lease liabilities, thereby no adjustment was recognised in retained earnings at October
1, 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information presented for 2019 is not restated – i.e. it is presented,
as previously reported, under IAS 17 and related interpretations. The details of the changes in accounting
policies are disclosed below. Additionally, the disclosure requirements in IFRS 16 have not generally been
applied to comparative information.
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3.

Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

3.1

Adoption of new or revised standards, amendments to standards and interpretations (cont’d)
IFRS 16 Leases (cont’d)
(a) Definition of a lease
Previously, the Group determined at contract inception whether an arrangement was or contained a
lease under IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, issued by IFRS
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). The Group now assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition of a lease, as explained in note 4.12.
On transition to IFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the
assessment of which transactions are leases. The Group applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were
previously identified as leases. Contracts that were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4
were not reassessed for whether there is a lease under IFRS 16. Therefore, the definition of a lease
under IFRS 16 was applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after October 1, 2019.
(b) As a lessee
As a lessee, the Group leases commercial space. The Group previously classified leases as operating
based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred significantly all of the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to the Group. Under IFRS 16, the Group recognises
right‑of‑use assets and lease liabilities for most of these leases – i.e. these leases are on‑balance
sheet.
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative
stand‑alone price.
However, for leases of property, the Group has elected not to separate non‑lease components and
account for the lease and associated non‑lease components as a single lease component.
Leases classified as operating leases under IAS 17
Previously, the Group classified property leases as operating leases under IAS 17. On transition, for
these leases, lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted at the Group’s incremental borrowing rate as at October 1, 2019. The Group opted for the
measurement of the right-of-use assets equivalent to the lease liabilities at transition date as permitted
by IFRS 16 transition options.
The Group has tested its right-of-use assets for impairment on the date of transition and has concluded
that there is no indication that the right-of-use assets are impaired.
The Group used a number of practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified
as operating leases under IAS 17. In particular, the Group:
– did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases for which the lease term ends within
12 months of the date of initial application;
– did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases of low value assets;
– excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application; and
– used hindsight when determining the lease term.
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3.

Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

3.1

Adoption of new or revised standards, amendments to standards and interpretations (cont’d)
IFRS 16 Leases (cont’d)
(c) As a lessor
The Group leases out its own property (ground and 2nd floors). The Group has classified these leases
as operating leases.
The Group is not required to make any adjustments on transition to IFRS 16 for leases in which it acts
as a lessor, except for a sub-lease. The Group does not sub-lease any of its properties.
The Group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in
the contract to each lease and non-lease component.
(d) Impact on transition
On transition to IFRS 16, the Group recognised additional right‑of‑use assets and additional lease
liabilities, at the same amount, thereby, no adjustment was made to the retained earnings at transition.
The impact on transition is summarised below.
October 1, 2019
Right‑of‑use assets
Lease liabilities

$

826,162
826,162

Retained earnings

$

-

For the impact of IFRS 16 on profit or loss for the year, see note 16. For the details of accounting
policies under IFRS 16 and IAS 17, see note 4.12.
When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Group
discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate at October 1, 2019. The weighted
average rate applied is 2%.
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3.

Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

3.1

Adoption of new or revised standards, amendments to standards and interpretations (cont’d)
IFRS 16 Leases (cont’d)
(d) Impact on transition (cont’d)
October 1, 2019
Operating lease commitments as at September 30, 2019
$
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at October 1, 2019
Discounted operating lease commitments at October 1, 2019
Add: Lease payments relating to renewal periods not included in
operating lease commitments as at September 30, 2019
Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases or low value assets

472,087
2%
431,433

Lease liabilities as at October 1, 2019

826,162

$

394,729
-

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
The interpretation addresses the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12. It
specifically considers:
•
•
•
•

Whether tax treatments should be considered collectively;
Assumptions for taxation authorities’ examinations;
The determination of taxable profits (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax
rates; and
The effect of changes in facts and circumstances.

There was no impact on the Group’s financial statements from the adoption of this interpretation.
Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments relating to prepayment features with negative compensation.
This amends the existing requirements in IFRS 9 regarding termination rights in order to allow measurement
at amortised cost (or, depending on the business model, at fair value through other comprehensive income)
even in the case of negative compensation payments.
There was no impact on the Group’s financial statements from the adoption of this amendment.
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3.

Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

3.2

Standards issued but not yet adopted
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after
October 1, 2019 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted these new
or amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
None of these is expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

4.

Summary of significant accounting policies

4.1

Overall considerations
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the significant accounting policies and
measurement bases summarised below.

4.2

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, non-mandatory deposits with the ECCB and other
banks, treasury bills, and other short-term highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three months
of less.

4.3

Financial instruments
Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. Subsequent measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities is described below.
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all risks and rewards are transferred, or when the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not
retain control, over the transferred asset. Any interest in such derecognized financial assets that is created
or retained by the Group is recognized as a separate asset or liability.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the
carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the sum of (i) the consideration
received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognized in OCI is recognized in profit or loss.
Any cumulative gain/loss recognized in OCI in respect of equity investment securities designated as at
FVOCI is not recognized in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities.
A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.3

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL.
Financial assets are measured at initial recognition at fair value and are classified and subsequently
measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
−
−

the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at initial recognition at fair value and is classified and subsequently
measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
−
−

the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment
basis. All other equity investments are classified as measured at FVTPL. In addition, on initial recognition,
the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be
measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
A financial asset is classified into one of these categories on initial recognition. However, for financial assets
held at initial application, the business model assessment is based on facts and circumstances at that date.
Also, IFRS 9 permits new elective designations at FVTPL or FVOCI to be made on the date of initial
application and permits or requires revocation of previous FVTPL elections at the date of initial application
depending on the facts and circumstances at that date.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.3

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (cont’d)
Business model assessment
IFRS 9 requires that financial assets are classified on the basis of the Group’s business model for managing
such assets unless it makes an irrevocable election to designate the asset at fair value through profit or
loss. The business model refers to how financial assets are managed in order to generate cash flows. The
Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages its portfolios of financial
assets to achieve its business objectives. Judgment is used in determining the Group’s business models
that is supported by relevant, objective evidence including:
-

The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice;

-

How performance of the business model and the financial assets held within the model are evaluated
and reported to key management personnel;

-

How managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value
of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected);

-

The frequency and significance of past sales activity, the reason for those sales as well as expectations
about future sales; and

-

The significant risks affecting the performance of the business model for example, market risk and
credit risk and the activities undertaken to manage those risks.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value
basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both
to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.
The business model assessment is forward looking in that if cash flows are realized in a manner that is
different from expectations the classification of the remaining assets in the business model is not changed
but instead that information is used to assess new instruments acquired.
Business models - Applicability to the Group
The Group’s business models fall into two main categories, which are indicative of the key strategies used
to generate returns as follows:
-

Hold to collect contractual cash flows (HTC) - the objective of this business model is to hold assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows. Under this model, the Group holds loans and investment
securities to collect contractual principal and interest cash flows. Sales are expected to be insignificant
or infrequent; and

-

Other business model - the objective of this business model is neither to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, nor both collect contractual cash flows and to sell. Under this model collecting
contractual cash flows is incidental to the objective of the model and sales may be significant in value
and frequent. The Group holds certain debt and equity investments under this model.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.3

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (cont’d)
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest - SPPI
assessment
For classification purposes the Group first reviews the terms of the instruments to determine whether they
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that meet the SPPI test.
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual terms of
the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could
change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.
Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the
Group changes its business model for managing financial assets.
Classification and Measurement under IFRS 9 – Applicability to the Group
Debt instruments measured at amortised cost
Debt instruments are measured at amortised cost if they are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest. After initial measurement, debt instruments in this category are carried at amortised
cost. Interest income on these instruments is recognized in interest income using the effective interest rate
method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset. Amortised
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, transaction costs and fees
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
Impairment on debt instruments measured at amortised cost is calculated using the expected credit loss
approach. The Group has loans and certain debt securities in this category, which are measured at
amortised cost. These are presented net of the allowance for expected credit losses in the statement of
financial position.
Debt instruments measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
Investments in debt instruments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income where
they meet the following two conditions and they have not been designated at FVTPL:
•
•

58

Contractual terms that give rise to cash flows on specified dates, that represent solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding; and
Are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.3

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (cont’d)
Debt instruments measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (cont’d)
These debt instruments are initially recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs and
subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included in
other comprehensive income within a separate component of equity. Impairment losses or reversals,
interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Upon disposal, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss.
Impairment on debt instruments measured at FVOCI is calculated using the expected credit loss (ECL)
approach. The ECL on debt instruments measured at FVOCI does not reduce the carrying amount of the
asset in the statement of financial position, which remains at its fair value.
The Group does not have any financial assets in this category.
Debt instruments measured at FVTPL
Debt instruments are measured at FVTPL if assets:
i) Are held for trading purposes;
ii) Are held as part of a portfolio managed on a fair value basis; or
iii) Whose cash flows do not represent payments that are solely payments of principal and interest.
These instruments are measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, with transaction costs
recognized immediately in profit or loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in profit
or loss.
The Group has certain investments in this category.
Equity instruments measured at FVTPL
Equity instruments are measured at FVTPL, unless an election is made to designate them at FVOCI upon
purchase, with transaction costs recognized immediately in profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition
the changes in fair value are recognized in profit or loss. Equity instruments at FVTPL are primarily assets
held for trading.
The Group has certain equity investments in this category.
Equity instruments measured at FVOCI (designated)
At initial recognition, there is an irrevocable option for the Group to classify non-trading equity instruments
at FVOCI. This election is used for certain equity investments for strategic or longer-term investment
purposes. This election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis and is not available to equity
instruments that are held for trading purposes.
Gains and losses on these instruments including when derecognized/sold are recorded in OCI and are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. As such, there is no specific impairment requirement. Dividends
received are recorded in profit or loss. Any transaction costs incurred upon purchase of the security are
added to the cost basis of the security and are not reclassified to profit or loss on sale of the security.
The Group has certain equity investments in this category.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.3

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial
instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:
-

Financial assets that are debt instruments;
Lease receivables;
Financial guarantee contracts issued; and
Loan commitments issued.

No impairment loss is recognized on equity investments.
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which
they are measured as 12-month ECL:
-

Debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
Other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not increased
significantly since their initial recognition.

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL is
recognized are referred to as ‘Stage 1’ financial instruments. Stage 1 loans also include facilities where the
credit risk has improved, and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 2.
Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial
instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognized but which are not credit-impaired
are referred to as ‘Stage 2’ financial instruments.
Credit impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
financial assets carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial
asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
-

Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer, including an inability to satisfy the debt because
of decreased or no cash flow (negative debt service ratio), inability to work or where the customer is
unemployed in excess of 6 months;
A breach of contract such as a default or past due event, including a history of chronic arrears;
The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise, or if a loan has been restructured more than three times in five years;
Measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the underlying assets that secure the
loan;
Default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or
The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.3

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)
Credit impaired financial assets (cont’d)
A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered
to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has
reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. In addition, the Group considers that
default has occurred and classifies a retail loan as credit impaired when it is more than 90 days past due.
Loans classified as ‘doubtful’ or ‘loss’ based on the regulatory definition and those placed on a watch list
are also considered to be in default and hence are classified as credit impaired.
Significant increase in credit risk
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on
the Group’s historical experience and credit risk assessment.
The determination of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk is critical to the staging
process. Factors to consider include:
•
•
•
•
•

Changes in market or general economic conditions;
Expectation of potential breaches;
Expected delays in payment;
Deterioration in credit ratings; or
Significant changes in operating results or financial position of the borrower.

The Group considers as a backstop that significant increase in credit risk occurs when an asset is more
than 30 days past due and also maintains a loan watch list to assist in the assessment.
The Group considers that significant increase in credit risk occurs for debt investments when investments
with investment grade rating at acquisition moves to a non-investment grade but above a default grade.
For debt investments with a non-investment grade at acquisition, a significant increase in credit risk occurs
when there is an unfavorable movement in the ratings relative to the rating at initial recognition, including
movement to a lower end of non-investment grade.
An exposure will migrate through the ECL stages as asset quality deteriorates. If, in a subsequent period,
asset quality improves and also reverses any previously assessed significant increase in credit risk since
origination, then the provision for doubtful debts reverts from lifetime ECL to 12-months.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.3

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)
Measurement of ECL
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:
-

Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive);

-

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

-

Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive; and

-

Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that
the Group expects to recover.

The inputs used to estimate the expected credit losses are as follows:
•

PD – The probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A
default may only happen at a certain time over the remaining estimated life, if the facility has not been
previously derecognized and is still in the portfolio.

•

EAD – The exposure at default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into
account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal
and interest, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities,
and accrued interest from missed payments

•

LGD – The loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a
given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the
lender would expect to receive, including from the realization of any collateral. It is usually expressed
as a percentage of the EAD.

•

Forward looking information – The standard requires the incorporation of forward-looking information
in the estimation of expected credit losses for each stage and the assessment of significant increases
in credit risk consider information about past events and current conditions as well as reasonable and
supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions. The estimation and application of
forward-looking information requires significant judgement.

•

Discount rate – The standard requires the ECL to be discounted using the effective interest rate (EIR).

The above five parameters are modelled and estimated independently and combined to obtain the ECL of
loans.
To incorporate forward-looking macroeconomic sensitivity as required per the IFRS 9 guidance, the Group
developed an economic scorecard model based on qualitative rationale and management judgment to
calculate a “Forward Looking Factor” (FLF).
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.3

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)
Measurement of ECL (cont’d)
The Group applied experienced judgement in selecting macroeconomic factors that would most likely
impact credit risk and leveraged various third party macroeconomic forecasts when determining the forward
looking factors. The macroeconomic projections considered by the Group were:
•
•
•
•

Gross Domestic Product (GDP)
Inflation
Unemployment rate
Lending rates

The Group then employed a Forward Looking Factor Scorecard approach to compute adjustment factors
applied to the final PD estimates used to calculate the ECLs. This approach also considered various
economic scenarios (negative, neutral, positive) and their estimated impacts to the ECL.
Restructured financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with
a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial
asset should be derecognized and ECL are measured as follows:
-

If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash
flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the
existing asset.

-

If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair
value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of
its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial
asset that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the
original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset.

In assessing whether the modified terms are “substantially” different from the original terms, the following
factors are considered:
•
•
•
•

Introduction of significant new terms
Significant change in loan’s interest rate
Significant extension in loan’s term
Significant change in credit risk from inclusion of collateral or other credit enhancements.

Expected life
For instruments in Stage 2 or Stage 3, loss allowances reflect expected credit losses over the expected
remaining lifetime of the instrument. For most instruments, the expected life is limited to the remaining
contractual life. For certain revolving facilities such as credit cards and overdrafts, the expected credit life
is estimated based on the period over which the Group’s exposure to credit losses is not mitigated by normal
credit risk management actions.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.3

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)
Presentation of allowance for ECL
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
-

Financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the
assets;
Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision;
Where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Group cannot
identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component:
The Group presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is
presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the
loss allowance over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision; and

Write-off
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset
level.
Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on financial instruments’ in
the statement of profit or loss and OCI.
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include customers’ deposits and other liabilities and accrued expenses.
Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. All
interest-related charges are included within “interest expense” in the statement of income.
Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position
when, and only when, there is a current legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS or for gains and losses
arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity.
Amortised cost measurement
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is
measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization,
using the effective interest method, of any difference between the initial amount recognized and the maturity
amount, minus any reduction for impairment.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.3

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the
most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects
its non-performance risk.
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.
When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an on-going basis.
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximize the
use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation
technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a
transaction.
If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group measures
assets and long positions at a bid price, and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction
price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value
on initial recognition differs from the transaction price, and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted
price in an active market for an identical asset or liability not based on a valuation technique for which any
unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation to the measurement, then the financial
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value on initial
recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognized in profit or loss on an
appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by
observable market data or the transaction is closed out.
Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified
asset are substantially different.
If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial
asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new
financial asset is recognized at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as part of
the modification are accounted for as follows:
-

fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent
reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset; and
other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.3

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities (cont’d)
Financial assets (cont’d)
If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification
is usually to maximize recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with
substantially different terms. If the Group plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in
forgiveness of cash flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before
the modification takes place. This approach impacts the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that
the derecognition criteria are not usually met in such cases.
If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in derecognition
of the financial asset, then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset using
the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting adjustment as a modification gain
or loss in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective interest rate used to calculate
the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any
costs or fees incurred, and fees received as part of the modification adjust the gross carrying amount of the
modified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial asset.
If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is
presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated
using the effective interest rate method.
Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified, and the cash flows of the modified
liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. Consideration paid includes non-financial assets
transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, including the new modified financial liability.
If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the
liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the
time of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount
of the liability and amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the
effective interest rate on the instrument.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.4

Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Provisions for legal disputes or other claims are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources
will be required from the Group and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow
may still be uncertain.
A provision for Group levies is recognised when the condition that triggers the payment of the levy is met.
If a levy obligation is subject to a minimum activity threshold so that the obligating event is reaching a
minimum activity, then a provision is recognised when that minimum activity threshold is reached.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are measured at the estimated
expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the
reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there are
a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where
the time value of money is material.
Any reimbursement that the Group is virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the
obligation is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related
provision. In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present
obligations is considered improbable or remote, no liability is recognised. Such situations are disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the outflow of resource is remote.

4.5

Property and equipment and depreciation
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost or revalued amount, less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method at rates
estimated to write down the cost or valuation of such assets to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:
Buildings
ATM buildings and building improvements
Car park
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment
Motor vehicles
Computer hardware
Computer software

40 years
10 years
10 years
6 2/3 years
10 years
5 years
5 years
3 years

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit
or loss when the expenditure is incurred.
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting
date. Property and equipment are periodically reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.5

Property and equipment and depreciation (cont’d)
Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property and equipment are determined as the difference between
the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognised within “other operating
income” in profit or loss.
Revaluations of property and equipment are carried out every 3 to 5 years based on independent
valuations.

4.6

Impairment of non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than
deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and valuein-use. To determine the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each cashgenerating unit and determines a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. Discount factors are determined individually for each cash-generating unit and reflect management’s
assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risk factors. Impairment losses
are recognised in profit or loss.
All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may
no longer exist. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.

4.7

Dividends on ordinary shares and dividend income
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by
shareholders. Dividends for the year which are approved after the reporting date are disclosed as a
subsequent event (note 20).
Dividend income is recognised in “other operating income” in profit or loss when the entity’s right to receive
payment is established.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.8

Interest income and expense
Effective interest rate
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The
‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument to:
–
–

the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
the amortised cost of the financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired assets, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial instrument, but not ECL. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a creditadjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including ECL.
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability.
Amortised cost and gross carrying amount
The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or
financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. The ‘gross
carrying amount of a financial asset’ is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any
expected credit loss allowance.
Calculation of interest income and expense
The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a
financial asset or a financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised
cost of the liability. The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of
floating-rate instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest.
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the
asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.
For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying
the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of interest income
does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset improves.
For information on when financial assets are credit-impaired, see Note 4.3.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.8

Interest income and expense (cont’d)
Presentation
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of profit or loss
and OCI includes:
–

interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Interest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI includes:

4.9

–

financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and

–

interest expense on lease liabilities.

Fee and commission income and revenue recognition
Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset
or financial liability are included in the effective interest rate.
If a loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, then the related loan commitment
fee is recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment period.
Other fee and commission income – including account servicing fees and syndication fees – is recognised
as the related services are performed.
A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Group’s financial
statements may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case,
then the Group first applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of
IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the residual.
Other fee and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as
the services are received.

4.10

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean Dollars, which is also the
functional currency of the Group.
Foreign currency transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Eastern Caribbean Dollars using the closing rates of
exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items denominated in foreign
currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised in the statement of income.
Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using
the exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.11

Post-employment benefits
The Group provides post-employment benefits through a defined benefit plan. Under this plan, the amount
of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement is defined by reference to the employee’s
length of service and final salary. The legal obligation for any benefits remains with the Group, even if plan
assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside. Plan assets may include assets specifically
designated to a long-term benefit fund as well as qualifying insurance policies.
The liability recognised in the statement of financial position for a defined benefit plan is the present value
of the defined benefit obligation (DBO) at the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets.
Management estimates the DBO annually with the assistance of independent actuaries. This is based on
assumed rates of inflation, medical cost trends and mortality. It also takes into account the Group’s specific
anticipation of future salary increases. Discount factors are determined close to each year-end by reference
to high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and
that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.
Service cost on the Group’s defined benefit plan is included in employee benefits expense. Employee
contributions, all of which are independent of the number of years of service, are treated as a reduction of
service cost. Net interest expense on the net defined benefit liability is included in salaries and related costs
in profit or loss. Actuarial gains and losses resulting from re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability
are included in other comprehensive income.

4.12

Leased assets
Policy applicable from October 1, 2019
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.
This policy is applied to contracts entered into, on or after October 1, 2019.
As a lessee
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standǦalone prices.
However, for the leases of property the Group has elected not to separate nonǦlease components and
account for the lease and nonǦlease components as a single lease component.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement
date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group
by the end of the lease term.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.12

Leased assets (cont’d)
In that case the rightǦofǦuse asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is
determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the rightǦofǦuse asset is
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease
liability.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate as the discount rate.
The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external
financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset
leased.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
–
–
–
–

fixed payments, including inǦsubstance fixed payments;
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease
payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to
terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.
The Group presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately in the statement of financial position.
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group has elected not to recognise rightǦofǦuse assets and lease liabilities for shortǦterm leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less and lowǦvalue assets. The Group recognises the lease payments
associated with these leases as an expense on a straightǦline basis over the lease term.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.12

Leased assets (cont’d)
As a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease.
To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially
all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease
is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers
certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.
If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration in the contract.
The Group recognizes lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term as part of “other operating income”.
The accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor in the comparative period were not different
from IFRS 16.
Policy applicable before October 1, 2019
As a lessee
Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. All payments on operating lease agreements are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are
expensed as incurred.
As a lessor
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. All payments made under operating leases are recorded in “other operating
income” in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.13

Repurchase agreements
Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements are included in loans and receivables. These securities
are not secured by collateral. The counterparty liability is included in ‘due under repurchase agreements’
and is recorded at amortised cost. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest
and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest method.

4.14

Current and deferred income taxes
Tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Current tax
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable
on taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Calculation of
current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period in Antigua and Barbuda.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.14

Current and deferred income taxes (cont’d)
Deferred tax
Deferred income taxes are calculated on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply
to their respective period of realisation, provided those rates are enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the underlying tax loss or deductible
temporary difference will be utilised against future taxable income. This is assessed based on the Group’s
forecast of future operating results, adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific
limits on the use of any unused tax loss or credit. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Group has a right and intention to set off current
tax assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority.

4.15

Other liabilities
Other liabilities are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Other liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Other liabilities are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

4.16

Operating expenses
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or as incurred.

4.17

Equity and reserves
Stated capital represents the issue price multiplied by the number of shares that have been issued. Any
transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of any
related income tax benefits.
Other components of equity include the following:
•
•
•
•
•

Regulatory reserve for loan loss – additional provision as required by the Eastern Caribbean Central
Bank and interest on loans not recognised for regulatory purposes
Pension reserve – comprises a reserve equivalent to the calculated pension plan asset
Revaluation reserve: property – comprises unrealised gains and losses from the revaluation of land
and buildings
Revaluation reserve for AFS financial assets – comprises unrealised gains and losses relating to these
types of financial instruments
Retained earnings – includes all current and prior period retained profits or losses

See note 25 for details on each component of other reserves.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.18

Financial guarantees and loan commitments
‘Financial guarantees’ are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss that it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when it is due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument.
‘Loan commitments’ are firm commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions.
Financial guarantees issued or commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are initially
measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are measured at the higher of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with IFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount
of income recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15. Other loan commitments issued are
measured at the sum of (i) the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 and (ii) the amount of
any fees received, less, if the commitment is unlikely to result in a specific lending arrangement, the
cumulative amount of income recognised. Derecognition policies for financial assets (see Note 4.3) are
applied to loan commitments issued and held.
The Group has issued no loan commitments that are measured at FVTPL.
Liabilities arising from financial guarantees and loan commitments are included within “provisions and other
liabilities” on the statement of financial position.

4.19

Basis of consolidation
Our consolidated financial statements include the assets and liabilities and results of operations of the
parent company, Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd., and its subsidiaries, after elimination of intercompany
transactions, balances, revenues and expenses.
Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired set of
activities and assets meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the Group.
The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable
net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a bargain
purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if
related to the issue of debt or equity securities.
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay
contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is
not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognised in profit or loss.
If share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by
the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards), then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s
replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination.
This determination is based on the market-based measure of the replacement awards compared with the
market-based measure of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement awards relate to
pre-combination service.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

4.19

Basis of consolidation (cont’d)
Subsidiaries
‘Subsidiaries’ are entities controlled by the Group. The Group ‘controls’ an entity if it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it has control if there are changes to one
or more of the elements of control. This includes circumstances in which protective rights held (e.g. those
resulting from a lending relationship) become substantive and lead to the Group having power over an
investee.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date
on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.
Non-controlling interests
NCI are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date
of acquisition.
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions.
Loss of control
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.
Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.
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5.

Financial risk management
Risk management framework
The Group’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of its risk
management framework. The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities
involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of
risks. Taking risk is core to retail banking, and operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in
business. The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group,
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. The risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the
Bank’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to
maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles
and obligations.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the
Group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. Management identifies and evaluates financial risks
in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The Board provides oversight for overall risk
management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk and credit risk. The Audit and Risk Management Committee is assisted in its oversight role by
Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and
procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee.
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5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)
Risk management framework (cont’d)
COVID 19
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic. Governments
and regulatory bodies in affected areas, including Antigua, have imposed a number of measures designed
to contain the outbreak, including government-mandated social distancing measures, travel restrictions,
quarantines, and stay at home directives. The breadth and depth of the impact of COVID-19 on the global
economy and financial markets continues to evolve with disruptive effects. The specific impact on the
economy of Antigua and Barbuda, which is largely driven by tourism has been significant. This has resulted
in increased unemployment, hotel closures/hotel operations at reduced occupancy levels for those which
remained opened and reduced revenue for businesses, financial institutions and the Government.
While some of the Government and Regulatory measures have been eased across regions and the
economy has started to recover, subsequent spikes in the virus have caused some measures to be
reinstated and future economic activity to be uncertain. This has also been the case in Antigua, and the
Government continues to monitor the number of active cases.
COVID-19 continues to impact the Group’s employees, customers and community, impacting the Group’s
operations, financial results as well as present and future risks to the Group’s business. The Group is
closely monitoring the potential effects and impact of the pandemic, which is an evolving situation.
The Antigua government and the Group’s Regulator, the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank have taken, and
are continuing to take, significant measures to provide economic assistance to individual households and
businesses, stabilize the market, and support economic growth. The effectiveness of these programs will
depend on the duration and scale of COVID-19.
The Group’s risk and capital management framework continues to be applied and the Group continues to
monitor the impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s risk and capital profile. Non-financial risks emerging from
global movement restrictions, and remote working by staff, counterparties and customers are being
identified, assessed, managed and governed through timely application of the Group’s Risk Management
Framework.

5.1

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Group’s customers, clients or market
counterparties fail to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Group. Credit risk arises mainly from
commercial and consumer loans and advances, credit cards, and loan commitments arising from such
lending activities, but can also arise from credit enhancements provided, such as financial guarantees and
letters of credit. The Group is also exposed to other credit risks arising from investments in debt securities.

5.1.1

Credit risk management
Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Group’s business; management therefore carefully manages its
exposure to credit risk including risk on debt securities, cash, loans and advances, credit cards and loan
commitments. The Board of Directors created the Credit Committee for the oversight of credit risk. A
separate Credit department reports to the Credit Committee, which is responsible for managing the Group’s
credit risk, including the following:
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5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.1

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1.1

Credit risk management (cont’d)
– Formulating credit policies covering collateral requirements, credit assessment, risk grading and reporting,
documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements.
– Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. Authorisation limits
are allocated, with larger facilities requiring approval by the Credit Committee or the Board of Directors, as
appropriate.
– Reviewing and assessing credit risk: all credit exposures in excess of designated limits are assessed,
before facilities are committed to customers. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same
review process.
– Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, geographies and industries (for loans and advances,
financial guarantees and similar exposures), and by issuer, credit rating band, market liquidity and country
(for investment securities).
– Developing and maintaining the Group’s processes for measuring ECL: This includes processes for:
•
•
•

initial approval, regular validation and back-testing of the models used;
determining and monitoring significant increase in credit risk; and
incorporation of forward-looking information.

– Reviewing compliance with agreed exposure limits, including those for selected industries, country risk
and product types. Regular reports on the credit quality of portfolios are provided to the Credit Committee,
which may require appropriate corrective action to be taken. These include reports containing estimates
of ECL allowances.
– Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to promote best practice throughout the Group in the
management of credit risk.
Regular audits of credit processes are undertaken by Internal Audit.
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5.
5.1
5.1.1

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)
Credit risk (cont’d)
Credit risk management (cont’d)
(a)

Loans and advances
The Group assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using internal rating tools
tailored to the various categories of the counterparty. These have been developed based on the
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank guidelines. Customers of the Group are segmented into five rating
classes. The Group’s rating scale, which is shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities
defined for each rating class. This means that, in principle, exposures migrate between classes as
the assessment of their probability of default changes. The rating tools are reviewed and upgraded
as necessary.
Group’s rating
1
2
3
4
5

5.1.2

Description of the grade
Pass
Special mention
Sub-standard
Doubtful
Loss

(b)

Debt securities and other bills
The Group’s portfolio of debt securities and other bills consists of St. Kitts and Nevis Government,
St. Lucia Government and Antigua and Barbuda Government ninety-one day treasury bills, and
other debt obligations by regional banking and non-banking financial institutions, all of which are
unrated. The Group assesses the risk of default on these obligations by regularly monitoring the
performance of the Governments through published government data, information received directly
from government departments and information published by international agencies such as the
International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank. The risk of default on regional corporate
debt is assessed by continuous monitoring of the performance of these companies through
published financial information, and other data gleaned from various sources.

(c)

Credit card receivables
The risk related to the Bank’s credit card portfolio is significantly covered by the interest charged to
customers at a rate of 19.5% per annum. Historically, the risk of loss has been on average less
than 1% per annum over the past seven years. The portfolio is closely monitored by a third party
and the Group on a daily basis to minimize the risk of default.

Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in
particular to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries.
The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted
in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a
revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review by the Board of Directors.
The exposure to any one borrower, including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering
on and off-balance sheet exposure. Actual exposures against limits are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where
appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral and corporate and
personal guarantees. Lending limits are reviewed in light of changing market and economic conditions and
periodic credit reviews and assessments of probability of default.
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5.

Financial instrument risk (cont'd)

5.1

Credit risk (cont'd)

5.1.2

Risk limit control and mitigation policies (cont'd)
The following specific control and mitigation measures are also utilised:
(a)

Collateral
The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of
these is the taking of security for funds advanced, which is common practice. The Group
implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk
mitigation. The principal collateral types for loans and advances are:
•
•
•
•

Mortgages over residential and commercial properties.
Charges over business assets such as equipment, inventory and accounts receivable.
Charges over financial instruments such as cash and short-term deposits.
Government and personal guarantees.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured; revolving individual
credit facilities may be secured or unsecured. In addition, the Group seeks to proactively
minimize credit loss by taking pledges of collateral from the counterparty as part of its general risk
mitigation strategy.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances depends on the
nature of the instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally
unsecured
(b)

Financial guarantees (for credit related commitments and loan books)
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as
required. Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans.
Documentary and commercial letters of credit – which are written undertakings by the Group on
behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount
under specific terms and conditions – are collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to
which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the
form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend
credit, the Group is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments.
However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards
(often referred to as financial covenants).
The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments
generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
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5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.1

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1.3

Impairment and provisioning policies
The internal rating systems described in Note 5.1.1 focus more on credit quality mapping from the inception
of the lending and investment activities. In contrast, from October 1, 2018, impairment provisions for
financial reporting purposes are provided for losses based on an expected credit loss model using a three
stage approach across the various loan categories.
Financial instruments that are not already credit impaired are originated into stage 1 and a 12-month
expected credit loss provision is recognised.
Instruments will remain in stage 1 until they are repaid, unless they experience significant credit
deterioration (stage 2) or they become credit impaired (stage 3).
Instruments will transfer to stage 2 and a lifetime expected credit loss provision recognised when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk compared with what was expected at origination. An overview of
this is provided below:
Stage 1
12 month expected credit loss performing

Stage 2
Lifetime expected credit loss performing
but
significant
increase in credit risk (SICR)

Stage 3
Lifetime expected credit loss credit impaired/non- performing

Prior to October 1, 2018, due to the different methodologies applied, the amount of incurred credit losses
provided for in the consolidated financial statements was usually lower than the amount determined from
the expected loss model that is used for internal operational management and banking regulation purposes.
From October 1, 2018, the amount of expected credit losses provided for in the consolidated financial
statements is in excess of the amount determined for banking regulation purposes.
The loan impairment provision shown in the statement of financial position at year end is derived from each
of the five rating grades. However, the majority of the impairment provision comes from the substandard,
doubtful and loss grades. The table below shows the percentage of the Group’s on and off-balance sheet
items relating to loans and advances and the associated impairment provision for each of the Group’s
internal rating categories:

Group’s rating

Pass
Special mention
Sub-standard
Doubtful
Loss

Credit risk
exposure

2020
Impairment
allowance

Credit risk
exposure

2019
Impairment
allowance

(%)

(%)

(%)

(%)

63
24
6
7
-

7
5
11
73
4

30
48
9
13
-

5
5
16
74
-

100

100

100

100
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5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.1

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1.3

Impairment and provisioning policies (cont’d)
The mortgage subsidiary company had, on average 93% of its loan portfolio at a pass rating for the financial
year ended September 30, 2020 (2019: 91%).
The internal rating tool assists management to determine whether objective evidence indicates that a facility
has become credit impaired, based on the following criteria set out by the Group:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest
Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (e.g. equity ratio, net income percentage of sales)
Breach of loan covenants or conditions
Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings
Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position
Deterioration in the value of collateral

The Group’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds
at least annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. Expected credit losses are
determined for these accounts based on a combination of the probability of default, loss given default and
the exposure at default. The assessment normally encompasses collateral held (including re-confirmation
of its enforceability) and the anticipated receipts for that individual account.
COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic’s significant impact to the economy and the different stages of lockdown and reopening, resulted in continued uncertainty with timing of recovery. This required additional considerations
to determine the allowance for credit losses this year.
In response to the pandemic, and based on regulatory support during the period, the Group introduced a
support mechanism for customers impacted by COVID-19, including the deferral of payments for an initial
period of six months. The option to extend for an additional twelve months is available to all customers who
still display challenges in meeting their loan commitments.
The ECL methodology, model inputs, significant increase in credit risk (SICR) thresholds, and definition of
default remain consistent with those used as at September 30, 2019. Forward-looking information,
scenarios and associated weightings, were revised to reflect the unprecedented impact of the COVID-19
pandemic, and the resulting significant uncertainty as it relates to current conditions and outlook.
IFRS 9 requires the consideration of past events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information over the life of the exposure to measure expected credit losses. Furthermore,
to assess significant increase in credit risk, the Standard requires that entities assess changes in the risk
of a default occurring over the expected life of a financial instrument when determining staging. The IASB
and global regulators issued guidance for entities, consistent with IFRS 9, to consider the exceptional
circumstances of the COVID-19 pandemic. This includes consideration of significant government support
and the high degree of uncertainty around historical long-term economic trends used in determining
reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.
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5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.1

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1.3

Impairment and provisioning policies (cont’d)
COVID-19 (cont’d)
The Group’s models are calibrated to consider past performance and macroeconomic forward-looking
variables as inputs. Expert credit judgement is applied to consider the exceptional circumstances this
period, including consideration of government assistance programs, in the assessment of underlying credit
deterioration and migration of balances to progressive stages.
Consistent with requirements of IFRS 9, the Group considered both quantitative and qualitative information
in the assessment of significant increase in risk. First time utilization of a payment deferral program was
not considered an immediate trigger, in keeping with IASB and regulatory guidance, for an account to
migrate to a progressive stage, given that the purpose of these programs is to provide temporary cashflow
relief to the Group’s customers. Early observations of payment behaviour of expiries for this year were
considered in the assessment of the longer-term probability of the customers’ ability to pay, a key input in
determining migration. Consequently, the Group also determined that the extension of the initial payment
deferral period was an indicator that credit risk had significantly increased and these exposures were
migrated to the next stage.
A key input into the Group’s expected credit loss provisioning model is the incorporation of forward-looking
macroeconomic sensitivity as required per the IFRS 9 guidance. The Group continues to utilize an
economic scorecard model based on qualitative rationale and management judgment to calculate a
“Forward Looking Factor” (FLF). During this period, the Group considered whether there were any other
macroeconomic factors that would most likely impact credit risk given the impacts of COVID-19. Based on
this assessment, the Group continued to consider the following macroeconomic projections:
•
•
•
•

Gross Domestic Product (GDP)
Inflation
Unemployment rate
Lending rates

The Group then continued to employ a Forward Looking Factor Scorecard approach to compute adjustment
factors applied to the final PD estimates used to calculate the ECLs. While this approach continues to
consider various economic scenarios (negative, neutral, positive) and their estimated impacts to the ECL,
during this period, more weighting was placed on the negative scenario. In addition, considering the adverse
economic impact brought on by COVID-19, management further considered an overlay to account for
changes in the macroeconomic environment due to COVID-19. The mitigating impact of government
support measures was considered in the determination of these overlays to the extent not already reflected
in our models.
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5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.1

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1.3

Impairment and provisioning policies (cont’d)
COVID-19: Impact of deferral programs
The table below sets out the gross credit risk exposures which remain on deferral at September 30, 2020:
Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3

$

263,819,279
85,205,479
1,826,931

Total

$

350,851,689

Options available for customers upon expiry of the initial deferral period included:
•
•
•
•
•
5.1.4

extension of moratoriums for up to an additional 12 months
resuming regular repayments
extension of loan terms
converting outstanding interest to a separate loan and
consolidation of debt

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements
Maximum Exposure
2020

2019

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets
Due from other banks
$
Treasury bills
Statutory deposits

184,531,368
95,694,151
6,869,059

97,482,109
89,836,565
5,965,440

Loans and advances to customers

659,165,380

674,762,574

Investment securities:
Amortised cost
FVTPL

64,382,962
41,547,461

104,342,357
42,166,783

Other assets

19,713,991

13,966,051

1,071,904,372

1,028,521,879

57,600,939

61,370,469

1,129,505,311

1,089,892,348

$
Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet assets
Loan commitments and other credit related obligations
At September 30

$
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5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.1

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1.4

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements (cont’d)
The above table represents a worse-case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Group at September 30,
2020 and 2019, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For
on-balance sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
As shown above, 62% of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans and advances to customers
(2019: 66%); 6% represents investments in debt securities (2019: 10%).
Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to
the Group resulting from both its loans and advances portfolios and debt securities based on the following:
•
•

5.1.5

Business loans, which represents the biggest group in the portfolio, are backed by collateral; and
80% of loans and advances portfolio are considered to be neither past due nor impaired (2019: 76%).

Loans and advances
Loans and advances are summarised as follows:
Loans and advances to customers
2020
2019
Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Individually impaired

$

547,101,321
76,947,078
64,944,879

520,668,163
111,901,348
60,260,836

Gross

688,993,278

692,830,347

Interest receivable
Deferred interest income
Deferred fees
Less: allowance for impairment

18,747,315
(90,655)
(2,096,498)
(46,388,060)

17,201,729
(3,357,430)
(2,162,758)
(29,749,314)

Net

659,165,380

674,762,574

46,388,060

29,749,314

46,388,060

29,749,314

Allowance for impairment:
Expected credit losses
Total

$

Further information about the impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers is provided in
note 12.
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(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Loans and advances (cont’d)

5.1.5

$

September 30, 2019
Grades
Standard monitoring
Special monitoring
Total
90,080
436,577
526,657

36,058

12,431
23,627

41,652,312
2,156,897
43,809,209

47,290,804

46,201,624
1,089,180

Term
Loans

126,652,596
126,652,596

156,492,908

155,906,327
586,581

Mortgages

287,787,058
43,651,358
331,438,416

320,421,554

202,421,222
118,000,332

Large
Corporate
Customers

11,611,827
6,629,458
18,241,285

22,859,997

17,261,376
5,598,621

SMEs

Corporate entities

46

Total

467,793,873
52,874,290
520,668,163

547,101,321

421,802,980
125,298,341

Special monitoring relates to facilities for which the Group applies more active on-going review due to increases in credit risk.

$

$

$

Total

September 30, 2020
Grades
Standard monitoring
Special monitoring

Overdrafts

Individual (retail customers)

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the internal
rating system adopted by the Group.

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1

(a)

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.
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(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Loans and advances (cont’d)

5.1.5

Total

September 30, 2019
Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days
Past due 90 days and over

Total

September 30, 2020
Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days
Past due 90 days and over

$

$

$

$

1,105,295

1,105,295

11,366

11,366

Overdrafts

47

5,299,848

2,196,370
897,249
448,269
1,757,960

2,170,602

424,917
821,075
65,925
858,685

Term
Loans

43,809,278

29,251,275
3,104,992
3,708,325
7,744,686

13,308,477

6,047,952
3,314,815
838,768
3,106,942

Mortgages

Individual (retail customers)

59,344,845

742,087
36,149,612
5,820,854
16,632,292

53,237,388

4,289,775
28,782,335
20,165,278

Large
Corporate
Customers

2,342,082

1,197,646
1,144,436

8,219,245

1,341,528
442,391
6,435,326

SMEs

Corporate entities

111,901,348

32,189,732
41,349,499
9,977,448
28,384,669

76,947,078

12,104,172
32,918,225
1,347,084
30,577,597

Total

Loans and advances past due but not impaired
Late processing and other administrative delays on the side of the borrower can lead to a financial asset being past due but not impaired.
Therefore, loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not usually considered impaired, unless other information is available to indicate
the contrary. The gross amounts of loans and advances by class to customers that were past due but not impaired were as follows:

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1

(b)

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.
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Loans and advances (cont’d)

5.1.5

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

$
$

$
$

September 30, 2020
Gross amount

Amount provided

September 30, 2019
Gross amount

Amount provided

1,728,932

1,728,932

286,991

286,992

Overdrafts

1,223,039

1,691,656

1,223,039

1,691,656

Credit
Cards

Term
Loans

48

1,444,720

2,237,764

783,786

1,471,228

Individual (retail customers)

254,347

5,239,705

460,385

5,277,803

14,001,909

47,007,904

22,097,656

51,784,913

Corporate entities
Large
Corporate
Mortgages Customers

The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by class is as follows:

862,499

2,354,875

1,605,998

4,432,287

SMEs

19,515,446

60,260,836

26,457,855

64,944,879

Total

Loans and advances individually impaired
The individually impaired loans and advances to customers before taking into consideration the cash flows from collateral held amounts to
$64,944,879 (2019: $60,260,836).

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1

(c)

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020
September 30, 2020

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.1

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1.5

Loans and advances (cont’d)
(d)

Loans and advances renegotiated
Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external
management plans, modification and deferral of payments. Following restructuring, a previously
overdue account is reset to a normal status and managed together with other similar accounts.
Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgement
of management, indicate that payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under
continuous review.

Renegotiated loans and advances to individuals
Renegotiated loans and advances to corporations

2020

2019

$

1,220,555
-

4,173,034
6,905,841

$

1,220,555

11,078,875

COVID-19: Modifications
The terms and conditions related to the payment deferrals were assessed to determine if they
represented substantial modifications where required modification gains or losses have been
recognized.
5.1.6

Debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills
A number of qualitative and quantitative factors are considered in assessing the risk associated with
each investment. However, there is no hierarchy of ranking. The tables below present an analysis of
debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills at September 30, 2020 and 2019:

At September 30, 2020
Rated
Unrated

At September 30, 2019
Rated
Unrated

Treasury
Bills
$

Amortised
cost
$

FVTPL
$

Total
$

96,163,108
96,163,108

28,750,916
39,713,231
68,464,147

41,547,461
41,547,461

70,298,377
135,876,339
206,174,716

Treasury
Bills

Amortised
cost

FVTPL

Total

90,209,901
90,209,901

55,810,167
52,752,281
108,562,448

42,166,783
42,166,783

97,976,950
142,962,182
240,939,132

Based on Standard & Poor’s ratings, the securities rated were rated from AA+ to BBB- in 2020 and
2019.
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September 30, 2020
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September
30,30,
2020
September
2020

Statements

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed
in Eastern
Caribbean
Dollars)
(Expressed
in Eastern
Caribbean
Dollars)
5. 5.

Financial
instrument
riskrisk
(cont’d)
Financial
instrument
(cont’d)

5.15.1 Credit
riskrisk
(cont’d)
Credit
(cont’d)
5.1.7
of risk
of financial
assets
with
credit
riskrisk
exposure
5.1.7 Concentration
Concentration
of risk
of financial
assets
with
credit
exposure
(a) (a) Geographical
concentration
of assets
andand
off-balance
sheet
items
Geographical
concentration
of assets
off-balance
sheet
items
TheThe
Group’s
exposure
to
credit
risk
is
concentrated
as
detailed
below.
Antigua
andand
Barbuda
is is
Group’s exposure to credit risk is concentrated as detailed
below.
Antigua
Barbuda
thethe
home
country
of
the
Group
where
the
predominant
activity
is
commercial
banking
services.
home country of the Group where the predominant activity is commercial banking services.
As As
a major
indigenous
bank
in Antigua
andand
Barbuda,
thethe
Group
accounts
for for
a significant
share
a major
indigenous
bank
in Antigua
Barbuda,
Group
accounts
a significant
share
of credit
exposure
to
many
sectors
of
the
economy.
However,
credit
risk
is
spread
over
a a
of credit exposure to many sectors of the economy. However, credit risk is spread over
diversity
of personal
andand
commercial
customers.
diversity
of personal
commercial
customers.
TheThe
following
table
analyses
thethe
Group’s
main
credit
exposures
at their
carrying
amounts,
following
table
analyses
Group’s
main
credit
exposures
at their
carrying
amounts,
without
taking
into
account
any
collateral
held
or
other
credit
support
as
categorised
by by
without taking into account any collateral held or other credit support as categorised
geographical
region.
For
all
classes
of
assets,
the
Group
has
allocated
exposure
to
regions
geographical region. For all classes of assets, the Group has allocated exposure to regions
based
on on
thethe
country
of domicile
of the
counterparties.
based
country
of domicile
of the
counterparties.
Antigua
andand
Antigua
Barbuda
Barbuda

Other
NonOther
NonCaribbean
Caribbean Caribbean
Caribbean

Total
Total

2020:
2020:
Credit
riskrisk
exposures
Credit
exposures
relating
to
on-balance
relating to on-balance
sheet
assets:
sheet
assets:
Due
from
other
banks
Due from
other
banks $ $ 3,011,218
3,011,218 41,301,145
41,301,145 140,219,005
140,219,005 184,531,368
184,531,368
Statutory
deposits
6,869,059
- 6,869,059
Statutory deposits
6,869,059
6,869,059
Treasury
billsbills
32,035,649
- 95,694,151
Treasury
32,035,649 63,658,502
63,658,502
95,694,151
Investment
Securities:
Investment
Securities:
Amortised
Cost
Amortised
Cost
FVTPL
FVTPL
Loans
andand
advances
Loans
advances
Other
assets
Other assets

1,552,705
1,552,705 41,204,216
41,204,216 21,626,041
21,626,041 64,382,962
64,382,962
- - - 41,547,461
41,547,461 41,547,461
41,547,461
655,915,711
655,915,711
19,713,991
19,713,991

2,662,448
2,662,448
- -

587,221
587,221 659,165,380
659,165,380
- - 19,713,991
19,713,991

719,098,333
1,071,904,372
719,098,333 148,826,311
148,826,311 203,979,728
203,979,728
1,071,904,372
Credit
risk
exposures
Credit risk exposures
relating
to off-balance
relating
to off-balance
sheet
assets:
sheet assets:
Loan
commitments
andand
other
Loan
commitments
other
credit
related
facilities
57,600,939
- - - 57,600,939
credit
related
facilities
57,600,939
57,600,939
September
30,30,
2020
September
2020

$ $776,699,272
776,699,272 148,826,311
148,826,311 203,979,728
203,979,7281,129,505,311
1,129,505,311
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(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.1

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1.7

Concentration of risk of financial assets with credit risk exposure (cont’d)
(a)

Geographical concentration of assets and off-balance sheet items (cont’d)
Antigua and
Barbuda

Other
Caribbean

NonCaribbean

Total

14,207,569
5,965,440
22,944,551

16,569,288
61,531,966

66,705,252
5,360,048

97,482,109
5,965,440
89,836,565

35,331,793
-

20,520,353
-

48,490,211
42,166,783

104,342,357
42,166,783

671,387,178
13,966,051

2,661,644
-

713,752
-

674,762,574
13,966,051

763,802,582

101,283,251

Credit risk exposures
relating to off-balance
sheet assets:
Loan commitments and other
credit related facilities
61,370,469

-

2019:
Credit risk exposures
relating to on-balance
sheet assets:
Due from other banks
Statutory deposits
Treasury bills

$

Investment Securities:
Amortised Cost
FVTPL
Loans and advances
Other assets

September 30, 2019

$

825,173,051

101,283,251

163,436,046 1,028,521,879

-

61,370,469

163,436,046 1,089,892,348
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Concentration of risk of financial assets with credit risk exposure (cont’d)

5.1.7

As of September 30, 2020
250,308

-

24,229
41,548

Investment securities:
- Amortised Cost
- FVTPL – Bonds

Other assets

184,531
-

Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Statutory deposits
Loans and advances

Financial
institutions
$’000

87,669

-

-

87,669

Tourism
$’000
-

52

34,904

-

-

34,904

Real
estate
$’000

78,483

-

-

78,483

Wholesale
and retail
trade
$’000

271,613

-

28,809
-

95,694
6,869
140,241

Public sector
$’000

110,433

19,714

11,345
-

79,374

238,494

-

-

238,494

Other
industries Individuals
$’000
$’000

1,071,904

19,714

64,383
41,548

184,531
95,694
6,869
659,165

Total
$’000

Industry risk concentration of assets and off-balance sheet items
The following table breaks down the Group’s credit exposure at carrying amounts (without taking into account any collateral held or other credit
support), as categorised by the industry sectors of the Group’s counterparties.

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1

(b)

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

5.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.
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Concentration of risk of financial assets with credit risk exposure (cont’d)

5.1.7

As of September 30, 2019
148,776

-

9,127
42,167

Investment securities:
- Amortised Cost
- FVTPL - Bonds

Other assets

97,482
-

Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Statutory deposits
Loans and advances

Financial
institutions
$’000

94,909

-

-

94,909

Tourism
$’000

53

25,150

-

-

25,150

Real estate
$’000

99,421

-

-

99,421

Wholesale
and retail
trade
$’000

312,464

-

87,162
-

89,837
5,965
129,500

Public
sector
$’000

125,787

13,966

8,053
-

103,768

222,015

-

-

222,015

Other
industries Individuals
$’000
$’000

1,028,522

13,966

104,342
42,167

97,482
89,837
5,965
674,763

Total
$’000

The following table breaks down the Group’s credit exposure at carrying amounts (without taking into account any collateral held or other credit
support), as categorised by the industry sectors of the Group’s counterparties.

Industry risk concentration of assets and off-balance sheet items (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1

(b)

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

5.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.
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Concentration of risk of financial assets with credit risk exposure (cont’d)

5.1.7

-

Loan commitments and other
credit related obligations

As of September 30, 2020

Loan commitments and other
credit related obligations

As of September 30, 2019

Financial
institutions
$’000

3,295

3,295

4,083

4,083

Tourism
$’000

54

-

-

-

-

Real estate
$’000

Industry risk concentration of assets and off-balance sheet items (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

5.1

(b)

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

3,345

3,345

4,999

4,999

Wholesale
and retail
trade
$’000

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

5.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

9,124

9,124

10,365

10,365

Public
sector
$’000

33,988

33,988

18,004

18,004

11,618

11,618

20,150

20,150

Other
industries Individuals
$’000
$’000

61,370

61,370

57,601

57,601

Total
$’000

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020
September 30, 2020

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.2

Market risk
The Group takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk arises from
open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and
specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as
interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.
Non trading portfolio market risks primarily arise from the interest rate management of the entity’s retail
and commercial banking assets and liabilities. Non-trading portfolio market risks also include foreign
exchange risks and risks associated with the change in equity prices arising from the Group’s FVOCI
investment securities.

5.2.1

Price risk
The Group’s investment portfolio includes securities that are quoted on the Eastern Caribbean
Securities Exchange. The Group is exposed to equities price risk because of investments held and
classified on the statement of financial position as FVOCI. To manage this price risk arising from
investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. The Group does not hold securities
that are quoted on the world’s major securities markets.

5.2.2

Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group takes on
exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing level of market interest rates on both its fair
value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce
losses in the event unexpected movements arise. The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of
mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is monitored by the ALCO
Committee.
The following table summarises the Group's exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Group's
financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity
dates.
The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring
the sensitivity of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities to various standard and nonstandard interest rate scenarios.

55
96

Antigua Commercial Bank 2020 Annual Report | Building a Future for YOU
TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Antigua Commercial Bank 2020 Annual Report | Building a Future for YOU

97

53,703,645
53,703,645
13,799,074

38,742,330
(5,932,029)

67,502,719

10,826,041
4,807,807
5,420,175
-

1,161,000
45,287,696

6 months – 1
year

56

(16,497,329)

132,124,464

-

132,124,464

115,627,135

10,800,000
18,462,261
25,853,474
-

60,511,400
-

1–3
years

-

3–5
years

55,954,380

1,408,917

1,408,917

-

57,363,297

7,182,979
45,548,550
4,631,768

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

38,742,330

32,810,301

18,870,076
4,757,694
549,841
-

5,359,096
1,353,907
56,886,122
-

$ 206,017,573

3,848,000
4,784,690

96,796,683
45,621,765

Liabilities
Deposits due to
customers
$ 743,460,162
Other liabilities and
accrued expenses
502,646
Total financial
liabilities
743,962,808
Total interest repricing
gap
$ (537,945,235)

Total financial assets

As of September 30,
2020
Assets
Cash and balances with
the Central Bank
$
Statutory deposits
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
- Amortised cost
- FVTPL
Loans and advances
Other assets

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

5.2.2
3–6
months

Market risk (cont’d)

5.2

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

0–3
months

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

460,818,020

62,389,687

-

62,389,687

523,207,707

523,207,707
-

-

Over 5 years

64,382,962
41,547,461
659,165,380
19,713,991

133,128,669
6,869,059
184,531,368
95,694,151

Total

19,295,397

181,853,604

152,050,485

20,650,705 1,052,982,556

17,383,834

3,266,871 1,033,687,159

202,504,309 1,205,033,041

11,344,770
12,165,792
1,699,511
15,082,223

133,128,669
6,869,059
22,214,285
-

Non-interest
bearing
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Market risk (cont’d)

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

5.2

5.2.2

$

Total interest repricing gap

719,876,231

719,405,505
470,726

13,632,192

43,759,333

43,759,333
-

57,391,525

9,321,833
3,281,574
6,943,079
-

5,103,351
1,624,238
91,675,914
170,294,761

8,600,000
29,245,039

3–6
months

30,258,569
41,632,689

$ (549,581,470)

$

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Total financial liabilities

$

Total financial assets

As of September 30, 2019
Assets
Cash and balances with the Central
Bank
Statutory deposits
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
- Amortised cost
- FVTPL
Loans and advances
Other assets

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.

0–3
months

57

(4,750,038)

75,612,015

75,612,015
-

70,861,977

30,594,427
2,273,214
5,702,999
-

13,332,500
18,958,837

6 months –
1 year

(1,151,054)

96,831,457

96,831,457
-

95,680,403

21,226,968
4,546,455
55,827,980
-

14,079,000
-

1–3
years

526,500
-

3–5
years

Noninterest
bearing

104,342,357
42,166,783
674,762,574
13,966,051

169,110,446
5,965,440
97,482,109
89,836,565

Total

69,896,329

69,896,329
-

172,359,104

18,049,818 1,025,273,221

2,975,393 1,008,480,032
15,074,425
16,793,189

75,539,693 415,621,380 223,048,401

1,248,038

1,248,038

76,787,731 485,517,709 241,098,219 1,197,632,325

27,361,034
89,569
7,886,190

- 169,110,446
5,965,440
30,685,540
-

Over 5
years

38,095,778
3,080,268
35,085,185 479,437,848
6,079,861

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020
September 30, 2020

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.2

Market risk (cont’d)

5.2.3

Foreign exchange risk
The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange
rates on its financial position and cash flows. The ALCO sets limits on the level of exposure by currency
and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily. The Group’s exposure
to currency risk is minimal since most of its assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are held in United
States dollars. The exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean dollar (EC$) to the United States dollar
(US$) has been formally pegged at EC$2.70 = US$1.00 since 1974. The following table summarises
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk.
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924,364,417

$
$
$
$

Total financial assets

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Provisions and other liabilities

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet position

59

(74,145,063)

998,509,480

979,214,083
19,295,397

43,957,651
41,547,461
40,487,260
-

20,425,311
618,678,120
19,713,991

225,825,839

54,473,076

54,473,076
-

280,298,915

154,019,198
-

USD

6,869,059
30,320,700
95,694,151

$

XCD

287,345

Foreign exchange risk (cont’d)

5.2.3

132,663,085

Market risk (cont’d)

5.2

-

35,892
-

72,404

EUR

108,296

-

-

108,296

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

As of September 30, 2020
Assets
Cash and balances with the
Central Bank
Statutory deposits
Deposits from other banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
Amortised cost
FVTPL
Loans and advances
Other assets

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

89,423

-

-

89,423

-

33,089
-

56,334

GBP

64,382,962
41,547,461
659,165,380
19,713,991

6,869,059
184,531,368
95,694,151

133,128,669

Total

171,990

152,050,485

- 1,052,982,556

- 1,033,687,159
19,295,397

171,990 1,205,033,041

-

122,489
-

49,501

Others
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$
$

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet position

60

$

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Provisions and other liabilities

14,417,700

971,226,392

954,433,203
16,793,189

985,644,092

$

Total financial assets

162,918,348

54,046,829

54,046,829
-

216,965,177

87,162,674
47,432,688
23,867,002
-

USD

17,179,683
650,895,572
13,966,051

$

XCD

629,667
52,513,095
5,360,051

Foreign exchange risk (cont’d)

5.2.3

168,423,169
5,965,440
44,737,663
84,476,514

Market risk (cont’d)

5.2

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

34,022

-

-

34,022

-

5,707
28,315
-

EUR

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

As of September 30, 2019
Assets
Cash and balances with the
Central Bank
Statutory deposits
Deposits from other banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
Amortised cost
FVTPL
Loans and advances
Other assets

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

101,070

-

-

101,070

-

17,269
83,801
-

GBP

104,342,357
47,432,688
674,762,574
13,966,051

169,110,446
5,965,440
97,482,109
89,836,565

Total

153,869

177,625,009

- 1,025,273,221

- 1,008,480,032
16,793,189

153,869 1,202,898,230

-

34,634
119,235
-

Others

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020
September 30, 2020

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.3

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due as a result of customer deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements from
contractual commitments, or other cash outflows, such as debt maturities or margin calls for
derivatives. Such outflows would deplete available cash resources for client lending, trading activities
and investments. In extreme circumstances, lack of liquidity could result in reductions in the statement
of financial position and sales of assets, or potentially an inability to fulfil lending commitments. The
risk that the Group will be unable to do so is inherent in all banking operations and can be affected by
a range of institution-specific and market-wide events including, but not limited to, credit events,
merger and acquisition activity, systemic shocks and natural disasters.
The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current
accounts and maturing deposits. Management sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds
available to meet such calls and on the minimum level of inter-bank and other borrowing facilities that
should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand.
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing
liabilities as they mature are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure
to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.
Liquidity risk management process
The Group’s liquidity risk management processes are carried out by the Group’s senior management
and monitored by the finance team and include the following:
•

Day-to-day funding managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be
met. This includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. The
Group maintains an active presence in regional markets to enable this to happen;

•

Maintaining the liquidity ratios of the statement of financial position against internal and regulatory
requirements; and

•

Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day,
week and month respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point
for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the
expected collection date of the financial assets.
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(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.3

Liquidity risk (cont’d)
Funding approach
Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by management and the Board of Directors in order to
maintain a wide diversification by currency, geography, provider, product and term.
Assets held for management of liquidity risk
The Group’s assets held for managing liquidity risk comprise:
•
•
•
•
•

Cash and balances with other banks;
Unimpaired loans and advances;
Certificates of deposit;
Treasury and other eligible bills; and
Government bonds and other securities that are readily acceptable in repurchase agreements with
central banks.

In the normal course of business, a proportion of customers’ loans contractually repayable in one year
will be extended. In addition, debt securities and treasury and other eligible bills can be pledged to
secure liabilities. The Group would also be able to meet unexpected net cash requirements by selling
securities. The Group can also access alternative funds for short-term borrowing needs via the Interbank market, lines of credit with international banks and repurchase agreements.

62
Antigua Commercial Bank 2020 Annual Report | Building a Future for YOU
TABLE OF CONTENTS

103

104

Antigua Commercial Bank 2020 Annual Report | Building a Future for YOU

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

5.3

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

$
$

Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)

Assets held for managing liquidity risk

$

$

Assets held for managing liquidity risk

As at September 30, 2019
Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

$

$

Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)

As at September 30, 2020
Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

63

194,258,585

719,907,435

719,405,505
501,930

231,741,578

744,785,590

744,785,590
-

0–3
months

53,947,774

43,759,333

43,759,333
-

49,191,301

39,266,239

39,266,239
-

3–6
months

76,187,688

76,141,927

75,612,015
529,912

64,323,137

55,083,717

54,539,676
544,041

6 – 12
months

705,011,535

115,568,198

99,806,851
15,761,347

749,109,895

154,304,252

135,552,896
18,751,356

1–5
years

229,099,278

69,896,328

69,896,328
-

207,163,520

62,389,780

62,389,780
-

Over
5 years

1,258,504,860

1,025,273,221

1,008,480,032
16,793,189

1,301,529,431

1,055,829,578

1,036,534,181
19,295,397

Total

The table below presents the cash flows payable by and payable to the Group with respect to non-derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity
risk by remaining contractual maturities at the reporting date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Group
manages liquidity risk based on a different basis (see Liquidity risk management process), not resulting in a significantly different analysis.

Non-derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk

Financial Instrument risk (cont’d)

5.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020
September 30, 2020

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.4

Fair value
‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence,
the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability
reflects its non-performance risk.
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial assets
and liabilities:
Carrying value
Fair value
2020
2019
2020
2019
Financial Assets
Statutory deposits
Treasury bills
Due from other banks
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Other assets

$

6,869,059
95,694,151
184,531,368
659,165,380
153,813,115
19,713,991

5,965,440
89,836,565
97,482,109
674,762,574
184,810,677
13,966,051

6,869,059
95,694,151
184,531,368
683,664,151
153,683,154
19,714,310

5,965,440
89,896,522
97,482,109
681,306,780
184,401,770
13,981,808

1,119,787,064 1,066,823,416 1,144,156,193 1,073,034,429
$ 1,119,787,060
Financial Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and
accrued expenses

$ 1,033,687,159 1,008,480,032 1,030,889,121 1,006,111,525
19,295,397

16,793,189

19,295,397

16,793,189

$ 1,052,982,556 1,025,273,221 1,050,184,518 1,022,904,714
COVID-19: Valuation of financial instruments
Given market volatility during the year, the Group reviewed the appropriateness of the inputs to its fair
values. As a result and as part of the process to determine fair values of financial instruments since
the onset of the pandemic, the Group has applied a heightened level of judgement to a broader
population of financial instruments than would otherwise generally be required with the objective of
determining the fair value that is most representative of those financial instruments.
The following methods and assumptions have been used to estimate the fair value of each class
of financial instrument for which it is practical to estimate a value:
•

Short-term financial assets and liabilities
The carrying value of these assets and liabilities is a reasonable estimate of their fair value
because of the short maturity of these instruments. Short-term financial assets are comprised of
cash resources and short term investments, fixed deposits, interest receivable, and other assets.
Short-term financial liabilities are comprised of demand deposits, interest payable and certain other
liabilities.

•

Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are net of allowance for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and
advances represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be
received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.
Except for the staff loans, the interest rates on all other loans reflect the market rates, hence the
carrying values generally approximate the fair values.
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(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.4

Fair value (cont’d)
•

Deposits from Groups and due to customers
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which include non-interest-bearing
deposits, is the amount repayable on demand.
The estimated fair value of fixed-interest-bearing deposits not quoted in an active market is based
on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity. The
interest rates on these financial liabilities reflect the market interest rates, hence the carrying values
generally approximate the fair values.

•

5.4.1

Investment securities
The fair value for loans and receivables is based on market prices or broker/dealer price
quotations. Where this information is not available, fair value is based on cost less any impairment
recognised.

Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained
from independent sources; and unobservable inputs reflect the Group's market assumptions. These
two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:
• Level 1 - Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
instruments. This level includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges.
• Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued
using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques
in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.
• Level 3 - Inputs that are unobservable (not based on observable market data). This category
includes all instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs that are not observable,
and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category
includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between
instruments.
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5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.4

Fair value (cont’d)

5.4.1

Fair value hierarchy (cont’d)
The hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group considers
relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
$
$
$
$
As at September 30, 2020
Financial Assets
Investment Securities:
FVTPL
FVOCI – quoted
FVOCI – unquoted

53,059,972
-

9,357,431
-

27,012,750

53,059,972
9,357,431
27,012,750

Total Assets

53,059,972

9,357,431

27,012,750

89,430,153

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

Financial Assets
Investment Securities:
FVTPL
FVOCI – quoted
FVOCI – unquoted

47,432,688
-

9,365,345
-

23,670,287

47,432,688
9,365,345
23,670,287

Total Assets

47,432,688

9,365,345

23,670,287

80,468,320

As at September 30, 2019

If the market price on the FVOCI Level 2 investments were to change by +/- 10%, the impact on other
comprehensive income would be an increase/decrease of $935,743 (2019: $936,534).
There were no movements in or out of Level 3 during the period (2019: nil).
Level 3 fair value measurements
Unobservable inputs used in measuring fair values
Significant unobservable inputs Inter-relationship between key
Valuation technique
unobservable inputs and fair
Asset based approach with Net assets
value measurement
discounts
applied
where
The estimated fair value would
prudent,
with
subsequent Shareholding percentage
increase/(decrease) if:
consideration of the Bank’s
shareholding
Net assets were higher/(lower)
Shareholding
increases/(decreases)
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(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.4

Fair value (cont’d)

5.4.2

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and
analyses them by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is
categorised.
September 30, 2020
$’000
Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances
Amortised cost investment securities
Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
September 30, 2019
$’000
Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances
Amortised cost investment securities

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers

Level 2

Total fair
values

Total carrying
amount

$

133,129
184,531
95,694
683,664
64,383

133,129
184,531
95,694
683,664
64,383

133,129
184,531
95,694
659,165
64,383

$

1,030,889

1,030,889

1,033,687

Level 2

Total fair
values

Total carrying
amount

$

169,110
97,482
89,837
681,307
103,934

169,110
97,482
89,837
681,307
103,934

169,110
97,482
89,837
674,763
104,342

$

1,006,111

1,006,111

1,008,480
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5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.5

Financial assets and liabilities by category
The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and liabilities by category. For financial assets
carried at amortised cost, the values below exclude accrued interest receivable where relevant.

As of September 30,
2020
Assets
Due from banks and other
financial institutions
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Other financial assets
Treasury bills
Total financial assets

Amortised
cost
$

FVTPL
$

316,722,973
67,771,432
642,605,218
19,713,991
94,589,960
1,141,403,574

53,059,972
53,059,972

36,370,181
36,370,181

Financial Liabilities
at amortised cost

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Total financial liabilities

As of September 30,
2019
Assets
Due from banks and other
financial institutions
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Other financial assets
Treasury bills
Total financial assets

FVOCI
$

Total
$

316,722,973
157,201,585
642,605,218
19,713,991
94,589,960
1,230,833,727

Total

$

1,029,632,699
3,705,369

1,029,632,699
3,705,369

$

1,033,338,068

1,033,338,068

Amortised
cost
$

FVTPL
$

265,838,010
107,085,725
663,081,033
13,966,051
88,475,828
1,138,446,647

47,432,688
47,432,688

FVOCI
$

33,035,632
33,035,632

Total
$

265,838,010
187,554,045
663,081,033
13,966,051
88,475,828
1,218,914,967
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5.

Financial instrument risk (cont’d)

5.5

Financial assets and liabilities by category (cont'd)
Financial Liabilities
at amortised cost

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Total financial liabilities
5.6

Total

$

1,004,614,397
1,733,802

1,004,614,397
1,733,802

$

1,006,348,199

1,006,348,199

Operational risk
‘Operational risk’ is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with
the Group’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than
credit, market and liquidity risks – e.g. those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s operations.
The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses
and damage to the Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and innovation. In all cases, Group
policy requires compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
The Board of Directors has created a Governance and Executive Committee, which is responsible for
the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk. This responsibility is
supported by the development of overall Group standards for the management of operational risk in the
following areas:
– requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of
transactions;
– requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
– compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
– documentation of controls and procedures;
– requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and
procedures to address the risks identified;
– requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action;
– development of contingency plans;
– training and professional development;
– ethical and business standards;
– information technology and cyber risks; and
– risk mitigation, including insurance where this is cost-effective.
Compliance with Group standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by
Internal Audit. The results of Internal Audit reviews are discussed with the Audit Committee.
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6.

Capital management policies and procedures
The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the
face of the statement of financial position, are:
•

To comply with the capital requirements set by its regulator - the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank;

•

To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

•

To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored quarterly by the Group’s
management, employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee and
as implemented by the Group’s management for supervisory purposes. The required information is
filed with the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB) quarterly.
The regulatory capital requirements are strictly observed when managing economic capital. The
Group’s regulatory capital is managed by senior management and comprises two tiers:
•

Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any book values of treasury shares), general bank reserves,
statutory reserve, non-controlling interests arising on consolidation from interests in permanent
shareholders’ equity, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained
earnings. The book value of goodwill (if applicable) is deducted in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and

•

Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and
unrealised gains arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as FVOCI.

Investments in associates (of which there are none) are deducted from Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital to arrive
at the regulatory capital.
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6.

Capital management policies and procedures (cont’d)
The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Group for
the years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019. During those two years, the Group complied with all
of the externally imposed capital requirements to which they are subject.
Tier 1 capital

2020

2019

Stated capital (net of treasury shares)
Statutory reserve
Capital reserves
Retained earnings

$

36,000,000
26,059,962
7,461,949
105,550,590

36,000,000
26,059,962
7,461,949
107,397,710

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital

$

175,072,501

176,919,621

Revaluation reserve: FVOCI investments
Reserves for loan loss

$

22,572,436
21,181,515

19,235,907
21,531,276

Total qualifying Tier 2 capital

$

43,753,951

40,767,183

Total regulatory capital

$

218,826,452

217,686,804

On-balance sheet
Off-balance sheet

$

773,315,000
57,600,939

775,538,400
61,370,469

Total risk-weighted assets

$

830,915,939

836,908,869

26.3%

26.4%

8%

8%

Tier 2 capital

Risk-weighted assets:

Basel ratio
Mandatory minimum

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital for the mortgage company are managed based on
the following.
The Financial Institutions (Non-Banking) Act requires a reserve fund into which no less than ten per
cent of the net profit of the institution after deduction of taxes shall be transferred each year until the
amount standing to the credit of the reserve fund is equal at least to the paid up capital of that
institution. There are no further capital and reserve requirements by the regulators and no external
monitoring of the capital base is conducted. The subsidiary was compliant with these requirements as
of September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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7.

Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty
When preparing consolidated financial statements, management makes a number of judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses.
Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS and information about estimates and
assumptions that have the most significant effect on the recognition and measurement of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses, and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment in these consolidated financial statements is provided below. Actual results may
be substantially different.
COVID-19: Impact on Use of Estimates and Judgements
COVID-19, a global pandemic, has materially impacted and continues to materially impact the markets
in which the Group operates. Governments around the world imposed a number of measures designed
to contain the outbreak, including business closures, travel restrictions, quarantines and cancellations
of gatherings and events. These measures have caused increased volatility and uncertainty in financial
markets. This has given rise to heightened uncertainty as it relates to the key areas of estimation
uncertainty. The Group has utilized estimates, assumptions and judgments that reflect this uncertainty.
While management makes its best estimates and assumptions, given the dynamic and evolving nature
of COVID-19 and limited recent experience of the economic and financial impacts of such a pandemic,
the actual outcomes for the Group in the future may differ from assumptions that have been applied in
the measurement of the Group’s assets and liabilities.
The Group has taken into account the impact of COVID-19 and related market volatility in preparing
these consolidated financial statements. While the methodologies and assumptions applied in the
measurement of various items within the consolidated financial statements remain unchanged from
those applied in the 2019 consolidated financial statements, the impact of COVID-19 has resulted in
the application of further judgement and the incorporation of estimates and assumptions specific to the
impact of COVID-19. Principally this has resulted in updates to the Group’s economic assumptions
used in determining expected credit losses (ECL).
(a)

Impairment losses on loans and advances
The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at
amortised cost and FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant
assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of
customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and
estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is detailed in note 4.
A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements
for measuring ECL, such as:
• The Group’s criteria for determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and hence whether impairment allowances for financial assets should be measured on a
lifetime expected credit loss (ECL) basis
• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of expected credit
losses, including post model adjustments
• Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs,
such as unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs
• Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking macroeconomic
scenarios for each type of product or market and the associated ECL; and
• Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.
To the extent that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-10%, the provision
would be estimated $4,785,988 lower (2019: $4,669,825) or $3,888,060 higher (2019:
$8,228,900)
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(a)

GDP
Inflation
Unemployment Rate
Lending rates

2.5%

2.008%

8.62%

NA*

2020
Inflation Lending Unemployment
Rate
Rates
Rate

3.3%

GDP
Change

2%

Inflation
Rate

8.62%

14.2%

2019
Lending Unemployment
Rates
Rate

73

The forward looking information factor is applied to the historical PD ranges, in order to ensure that final point in time PD estimates are within the
range of the historical PD distribution for the segment. The Group monitors the relevance of the model assumptions and data including
macroeconomic factor weights and expected trends on an on-going basis.

Economic assumptions

As 30 September

GDP
Change

The Group estimates the macroeconomic outlook over a twelve-month forecast period. Where forecasts were not available, a zero change was
applied. The table below lists the macroeconomic assumptions used (NA* – forecast data was not available at the reporting date):

The adjustment of forward-looking information is estimated after considering various outlooks on the macro-economic factors (negative, positive,
neutral), expressed as a percentage from 0 to 100, representing the impact of the outlook on credit risk. For a neutral or stable outlook, the factor
is 0%. Negative outlooks will have a factor of 20% (increase to the ECL estimate, reflecting an adverse economic outlook) and positive outlooks
will have a factor of -20% (decrease to the ECL estimate, reflecting a more favorable economic environment).

•
•
•
•

The Group applied experienced judgment to select macroeconomic factors that would most likely impact credit risk. The Group leveraged the
2019 IMF’s country report on the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union and Caribbean Development Bank’s 2019 economic outlook on Antigua and
Barbuda to provide macroeconomic projections on the following factors:

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into the measurement of expected credit losses (ECL) through a scorecard model. The model
is applied for each segment of the portfolio: Personal Loans, Commercial Loans, Mortgages, Overdrafts and Credit Cards. The adjustment for
forward looking information is determined based on the Group’s outlook related to multiple economic factors. For each segment, the Group
assigned weightings to macroeconomic factors to indicate their relative significance to the portfolio segment.

Impairment losses on loans and advances (cont’d)
Incorporation of forward-looking information

Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty (cont’d)
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7. Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty
(cont’d)
(b)

Classification of financial assets
Assessment of the business model within which the assets are held and assessment of whether
the contractual terms of the financial asset are SPPI on the principal amount outstanding.

(c)

Estimate of pension benefits
The present value of the pension obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on
an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net
cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact
the carrying amount of pension obligations.
The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate
that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to
be required to settle the pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group
considers the interest rates of Government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension
liability.
Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions.
Additional information is disclosed in note 17.

(d)

Impairment of non-financial assets
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions,
conducted at arm’s length for similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs of
disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The recoverable
amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the future cash inflows.

(e)

Fair value of financial instruments
Financial instruments where recorded current market transactions or observable market data are
not available, are recorded at fair value using valuation techniques. Fair value is determined using
a valuation model that has been tested against prices or inputs to actual market transactions and
using the Group’s best estimates of the most appropriate model assumptions.

(f)

Revaluation of land and buildings
The Group measures its land and buildings at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being
recognized in other comprehensive income. The Group engages independent valuation specialists
to determine fair value of its land and buildings. The valuer uses judgment in the application of
valuation techniques such as replacement cost and the market price of comparable properties, as
applicable in each case.

(g)

Current and deferred taxes
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes including any
liabilities for tax audit issues. There are some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
In calculating the deferred tax asset, management uses judgment to determine the possibility that
future taxable profits will be available to facilitate utilization of temporary tax differences which may
arise.
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8.

Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Note
Cash on hand
Balances with the ECCB other than mandatory
reserve deposits
Included in cash and cash equivalents

$

28

Mandatory reserve deposits with the ECCB
Total cash and balances with the Central Bank

$

2020

2019

8,852,859

8,433,692

72,531,664

112,491,165

81,384,523

120,924,857

51,744,146

48,185,589

133,128,669

169,110,446

Commercial banks operating in member states of the Organization of the Eastern Caribbean States
are required to maintain a reserve with the ECCB equivalent to 6% of their total deposit liabilities
(excluding inter-bank deposits and foreign currencies). This reserve deposit is not available for use in
the Group’s day-to-day operations, and is non-interest bearing.
9.

Due from other banks
Term deposits and operating accounts with other banks
with original maturities of 3 months or less

Note
$

Items in the course of collection from other banks
Included in cash and cash equivalents

28

Term deposits and operating accounts with other banks
with original maturities greater than 3 months
Less: Provision for expected credit loss

2020

2019

104,003,300

35,694,964

14,744,957

2,594,489

118,748,257

38,289,453

65,020,400

58,538,000

(174,353)

Interest receivable
Total due from other banks

$

The movement in expected credit losses is as follows:
Balance at the beginning of the year
Amounts restated through opening retained earnings
on initial application of IFRS 9 in 2019
Opening balance at October 1
Expected credit losses
Balance at the end of the year

183,594,304

96,727,564

937,064

754,545

184,531,368

97,482,109

2020

2019

99,889
$

$

(99,889)

-

198,250

99,889
74,464

198,250
(98,361)

174,353

99,889
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10.

Treasury bills
Nominal
Value
2020

Cost
2020

Nominal
Value
2019

Cost
2019

$ 30,676,000

30,296,720

44,700,000

43,979,408

30,676,000

30,296,720

44,700,000

43,979,408

65,249,617

64,762,197

45,400,000

44,869,756

-

1,104,191

-

1,360,737

Total treasury bills - gross

$ 95,925,617

96,163,108

90,100,000

90,209,901

Less: Provision for expected
credit losses

-

Note
Treasury bills at amortised costOECS Government with original
maturities of 3 months or less
and interest rates ranging from
3.5% to 7%
Included in cash and cash
equivalents

28

Treasury bills at amortised costOECS Government with original
maturities of more than 3 months
and interest rates ranging from
5% to 6.34%
Interest receivable

Total treasury bills – net

(468,957)

$ 95,925,617

95,694,151

-

(373,336)

90,100,000

89,836,565

2020

2019

373,336

-

-

351,477

373,336
95,621

351,477
21,859

468,957

373,336

2020

2019

6,869,059

5,965,440

The movement in expected credit losses is as follows:
Balance at the beginning of the year
Amounts restated through opening retained earnings
on initial application of IFRS 9 in 2019

$

Opening balance at October 1
Expected credit losses
Balance at the end of the year
11.

$

Statutory deposit
Statutory reserve deposit with the Government of
Antigua and Barbuda

$

A subsidiary company has placed a statutory deposit with the Government of Antigua and Barbuda
equivalent to 2½% of its deposit liabilities. The statutory reserve deposit is a statutory requirement as
per section 17(a) of the Financial Institutions (Non-Banking) Act, 1985. This reserve is non-interest
bearing and is not available for the Group’s day-to-day operations.
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12.

Loans and advances
Mortgage loans
Commercial loans
Personal loans
Overdrafts
Credit card advances

$

Less: Allowance for loan impairment
Add:
Interest receivable
Deferred interest income
Deferred fees

2020

2019

172,565,371
394,928,080
61,509,140
58,291,381
1,699,306

168,608,978
394,192,844
66,047,455
62,289,416
1,691,654

688,993,278
(46,388,060)

692,830,347
(29,749,314)

642,605,218

663,081,033

18,747,315
(90,655)
(2,096,498)

Total loans and advances

$

17,201,729
(3,357,430)
(2,162,758)

659,165,380

674,762,574

2020

2019

$

64,513,088
594,652,292

104,411,562
570,351,012

$

659,165,380

674,762,574

$

29,749,314
-

14,340,120
5,608,449

Opening balance at October 1

29,749,314

19,948,569

Provision for loan impairment

22,333,373

10,874,896

Write off of impaired loan balances

(5,694,627)

(1,074,151)

46,388,060

29,749,314

Current
Non-current

Allowance for loan impairment
The movement in expect credit losses is as follows:
Balance, beginning of year
Impact of IFRS 9 adoption in 2019

Balance, end of year

$

The provision for loan impairment shown in the statement of income of $22,609,895 includes a
provision of $276,522 on loan commitments. This provision is shown in note 19, as part of ‘Provisions’.
According to the ECCB loan provisioning guidelines, the calculated allowance for loan impairment
amounts to $31,926,364 (2019: $32,648,430). At the end of 2019, as the ECCB provision was in
excess of the IFRS amount, the difference between the ECCB figure and the loan loss provision
calculated under IFRS 9 was set aside as a specific reserve through equity (note 25). The gross
carrying value of impaired loans at the year-end was $64,944,879 (2019: $60,260,836). Interest
receivable on loans that would not be recognised under ECCB guidelines amounted to $6,730,771
(2019: $13,954,159) and is also included in the specific regulatory reserve (note 25).
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12.1.

Provision for impairment of loans and advances
Reconciliation of the allowance account for losses on loans and advances by class is as follows:

Balance at September 30,
2019
Credit loss movements
Reclassification
Loan repayments etc.
Provision for ECL
Loans written off during the
year
At September 30, 2020
Balance at September 30,
2018
Effect of adopting IFRS 9 at
October 1, 2018
Provision (Change in
assumptions)

Personal Commercial
$
$

At September 30, 2019

Credit
Cards Overdraft
$
$

Total
$

4,485,453

20,601,797

425,820

688,869

18,176,386

-

-

(1,821,275)

1,821,275

-

-

-

(110,935)

(792,173)

-

-

-

(903,108)

(38,963)

949,901

20,326

-

-

931,264

(1,165,020)

(4,344,666)

-

-

2,038,129

36,412,520

446,146

1,223,038 6,268,227 46,388,060

2,331,236

9,507,374

322,921

1,223,039

531,215

4,669,932

390,413

-

1,501,680

8,635,905

(322,921)

(1)

2,216,757 12,031,420

-

(1,840,401)

-

-

(128,289) (1,968,690)

121,322

703,138

35,407

-

-

(1,074,151)

-

-

4,485,453

20,601,797

425,820

Recovery of provision
Provision for ECL
Loans written off during the
year

Mortgage
$

1,223,038 3,013,206 29,749,314
3,439,962 22,305,217
-

(184,941) (5,694,627)

955,550 14,340,120
16,889

(47,701)
-

5,608,449

812,166
(1,074,151)

1,223,038 3,013,206 29,749,314

A breakdown of the staging of advances and the related ECLs for loans and advances is illustrated
below:
Personal
$
September 30, 2020
Gross loans before
provision
Stage 1: 12 month
ECL
Stage 2: Lifetime
ECL
Stage 3: Credit
Impaired

61,509,140

Mortgage
$

Credit
Cards
$

394,928,080 172,565,371

1,699,306

Commercial
$

Overdraft
$

Total
$

58,291,381 688,993,278

(672,380)

(4,713,511)

(352,937)

-

(664,016)

(6,402,844)

(132,796)

(7,498,331)

(93,209)

-

(346,598)

(8,070,934)

(1,232,953)

(24,200,678)

59,471,011

358,515,560 172,119,225

- (1,223,038)
476,268

(5,257,613) (31,914,282)
52,023,154 642,605,218
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12.1. Provision for impairment of loans and advances (cont’d)
A breakdown of the staging of advances and the related ECLs for loans and advances is illustrated
below (cont’d)
Personal
$
September 30, 2019
Gross loans before
provision
Stage 1: 12 month ECL
Stage 2: Lifetime ECL
Stage 3: Credit Impaired

Commercial
$

Mortgage
$

Credit
Cards
$

Overdraft
$

Total
$

66,047,455 394,192,844 168,608,978
1,691,654 62,289,416 692,830,347
(603,691)
(4,808,973)
(376,657)
(151,916) (5,941,237)
(74,566)
(3,402,854)
(49,163)
- (3,526,583)
(3,807,196) (12,389,970)
- (1,223,038) (2,861,290) (20,281,494)
61,562,002 373,591,047 168,183,158
468,616 59,276,210 663,081,033

Personal Commercial
$
$

Mortgages
$

Credit
Cards Overdraft
$
$

Total
$

Stage 1: 12 month ECL
ECL allowance as at:
September 30, 2019
Credit loss movements, new
Loan repayments, etc.
As at September 30, 2020

603,691
159,691
(91,002)
672,380

4,808,973
1,325,245
(1,420,707)
4,713,511

376,657
(23,720)
352,937

-

151,916
512,100
664,016

5,941,237
1,973,316
(1,511,709)
6,402,844

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL
ECL allowance as at:
September 30, 2019
Credit loss movements, new
Loan repayments, etc.
As at September 30, 2020

74,566
78,163
(19,933)
132,796

3,402,854
3,466,943
628,534
7,498,331

49,163
44,046
93,209

-

346,598
346,598

3,526,583
3,935,750
608,601
8,070,934

3,807,196
(1,821,275)
412,052
(1,165,020)
1,232,953
2,038,129

12,389,970
1,821,275
14,334,099
(4,344,666)
24,200,678
36,412,520

446,146

1,223,038
1,223,038
1,223,038

2,861,290
2,581,264
(184,941)
5,257,613
6,268,227

20,281,494
17,327,415
(5,694,627)
31,914,282
46,388,060

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL
ECL allowance as at:
September 30, 2019
Reclassifications, Adjustments
Credit loss expense
Charge-offs and write-offs
As at September 30, 2020
Total at September 30, 2020
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ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020
September 30, 2020

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
12.1. Provision for impairment of loans and advances (cont’d)
A breakdown of the staging of advances and the related ECLs for loans and advances is illustrated
below (cont’d)
Personal Commercial
$
$

Mortgages
$

Credit
Cards Overdraft
$
$

Total
$

Gross loans as at October 1,
2018
52,144,215 377,326,153 164,960,998 1,548,057 66,241,572 662,220,995
Stage 1: 12 month ECL
(487,573) (3,808,856)
(255,510)
(198,511) (4,750,450)
Stage 2: Lifetime ECL
(70,468) (3,621,183)
(134,903)
- (3,826,554)
Stage 3: Credit impaired
(2,305,516) (6,747,267)
(322,921) (1,223,038) (772,823) (11,371,565)
49,280,658 363,148,847 164,247,664
325,019 65,270,238 642,272,426
Stage 1: 12 month ECL
ECL allowance as at:
October 1, 2018 under IFRS 9
Credit loss movements, new
Loan repayments, etc.
As at September 30, 2019

487,573
257,656
(141,538)
603,691

3,808,856
1,462,264
(462,147)
4,808,973

255,510
159,614
(38,467)
376,657

-

198,511
(46,595)
151,916

4,750,450
1,879,534
(688,747)
5,941,237

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL
ECL allowance as at:
October 1, 2018 under IFRS 9
Credit loss movements, new
Loan repayments, etc.
As at September 30, 2019

70,468
27,024
(22,926)
74,566

3,621,183
19,051
(237,380)
3,402,854

134,903
1,509
(87,249)
49,163

-

-

3,826,554
47,584
(347,555)
3,526,583

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL
ECL allowance as at:
October 1, 2018 under IFRS 9
Credit loss expense
Charge-offs and write-offs
As at September 30, 2019
Total at September 30, 2019

2,305,516
1,501,680
3,807,196
4,485,453

6,747,267
6,716,854
(1,074,151)
12,389,970
20,601,797

322,921
(322,921)
425,820

1,223,038
772,823
- 2,088,467
1,223,038 2,861,290
1,223,038 3,013,206

11,371,565
9,984,080
(1,074,151)
20,281,494
29,749,314
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(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

12.2.

Loss allowance as at September 30

672,380

-

- Write-offs

132,796

-

-

-

(48,206)
-

-

189,704

23,879

(38,458)

- Reclassification

- New financial assets originated
- Financial assets that have been
derecognized

-

65,970

(31,619)

74,566

(48,206)

189,704

397,473

-

-

-

4,485,453

Total
$

81

1,232,953

2,038,129

(1,165,020) (1,165,020)

(1,821,275) (1,821,275)

-

-

412,052

-

-

-

3,807,196

2020
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL
$
$

-

(65,970)

- Transfer to stage 2

- Transfer to stage 3
- Net remeasurement of loss
allowance

31,619

603,691

- Transfer to stage 1

Loss allowance as at October 1
Changes in the loss allowance

Personal

Stage 1
12 months
ECL
$

603,691

-

-

(55,754)

251,289

(62,048)

-

(20,092)

2,723

487,573

Stage 1
12 months
ECL
$

74,566

-

-

-

-

(13,271)

-

20,092

(2,723)

70,468

3,807,196

-

-

-

-

1,501,680

-

-

-

2,305,516

2019
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL
$
$

4,485,453

-

-

(55,754)

251,289

1,426,361

-

-

-

2,863,557

Total
$

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by loan category. The basis for determining
transfers due to changes in credit risk is set out in accounting policy Note 4.3.

Allowance for impairment on loans and advances

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.
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12.2.

Loss allowance as at September 30
4,713,511

-

- Write-offs

-

(367,224)

-

-

-

1,821,275

(367,224)

793,400

(4,344,666) (4,344,666)

1,821,275

-

-

82

7,498,331 24,200,678 36,412,520

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,228,466 14,334,099 17,907,938

-

1,867,011

-

3,402,854 12,389,970 20,601,797

2020
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL
$
$

793,400

- Reclassification

- New financial assets originated
- Financial assets that have been
derecognized

1,345,373

-

(1,867,011)

- Transfer to stage 2

- Transfer to stage 3
- Net remeasurement of loss
allowance

-

4,808,973

- Transfer to stage 1

Loss allowance as at October 1
Changes in the loss allowance

Commercial

Stage 1
12 months
ECL
$
Total
$

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

4,808,973

-

-

(90,328)

675,858

427,181

-

(13,132)

538

3,808,856

Stage 1
12 months
ECL
$

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Allowance for impairment on loans and advances (cont’d)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

(1,074,151)

-

-

-

6,716,854

-

-

-

6,747,267

3,402,854 12,389,970

-

-

-

-

(230,923)

-

13,132

(538)

3,621,183

2019
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL
$
$

20,601,797

(1,074,151)

-

(90,328)

675,858

6,913,112

-

-

-

14,177,306

Total
$
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12.2.

Loss allowance as at September 30

- Write-offs

- New financial assets originated
- Financial assets that have been
derecognized

352,937

93,209

-

-

(40,264)
-

-

15,558

(24,719)
69,751

-

41,131

(12,643)

49,163

83

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2020
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL
$
$

-

(41,131)

- Transfer to stage 2

- Transfer to stage 3
- Net remeasurement of loss
allowance

12,643

376,657

- Transfer to stage 1

Loss allowance as at October 1
Changes in the loss allowance

Mortgages

Stage 1
12 months
ECL
$

Allowance for impairment on loans and advances (cont’d)

446,146

-

(40,264)

69,751

(9,161)

-

-

-

425,820

Total
$

376,657

-

(32,099)

61,009

144,738

-

(52,629)

128

255,510

Stage 1
12 months
ECL
$

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

49,163

-

-

-

(138,241)

-

52,629

(128)

134,903

-

-

-

-

(322,921)

-

-

-

322,921

2019
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL
$
$

425,820

-

(32,099)

61,009

(316,424)

-

-

-

713,334

Total
$
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12.2.

-

-

- Transfer to stage 1

- Transfer to stage 2

- Transfer to stage 3
- Net remeasurement of loss
allowance

-

-

- Write-offs

Loss allowance as at September 30

-

-

-

-

- New financial assets originated
- Financial assets that have been
derecognized

-

-

-

-

84

1,223,038

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,223,038

2020
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL
$
$

Loss allowance as at October 1
Changes in the loss allowance

Credit Cards

Stage 1
12 months
ECL
$

1,223,038

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,223,038

Total
$

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Stage 1
12 months
ECL
$

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Allowance for impairment on loans and advances (cont’d)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,223,038

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,223,038

2019
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL
$
$

1,223,038

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,223,038

Total
$
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12.2.

Loss allowance as at September 30

- Write-offs

- New financial assets originated
- Financial assets that have been
derecognized

664,016

346,598

-

-

(13,291)
-

-

9,642

779,419
82,928

-

336,956

-

-

85

5,257,613

(184,942)

-

-

2,581,265

-

-

-

2,861,290

2020
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL
$
$

-

(336,956)

- Transfer to stage 2

- Transfer to stage 3
- Net remeasurement of loss
allowance

-

151,916

- Transfer to stage 1

Loss allowance as at October 1
Changes in the loss allowance

Overdraft

Stage 1
12 months
ECL
$

6,268,227

(184,942)

(13,291)

82,928

3,370,326

-

-

-

3,013,206

Total
$

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

151,916

-

(53,846)

7,094

157

-

-

-

198,511

Stage 1
12 months
ECL
$

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Allowance for impairment on loans and advances (cont’d)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,861,290

-

-

-

2,088,467

-

-

-

772,823

2019
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL
$
$

3,013,206

-

(53,846)

7,094

2,088,624

-

-

-

971,334

Total
$
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12.2.

Loss allowance as at September 30
6,402,844

-

- Write-offs

-

(468,985)

-

-

-

-

(468,985)

1,135,784

(5,694,627) (5,694,627)

-

-

-

86

8,070,934 31,914,282 46,388,060

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,277,545 17,327,415 21,666,574

-

2,311,068

(44,262)

3,526,583 20,281,494 29,749,314

2020
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL
$
$

1,135,784

- Reclassification

- New financial assets originated
- Financial assets that have been
derecognized

2,061,614

-

(2,311,068)

- Transfer to stage 2

- Transfer to stage 3
- Net remeasurement of loss
allowance

44,262

5,941,237

- Transfer to stage 1

Loss allowance as at October 1
Changes in the loss allowance

Total

Stage 1
12 months
ECL
$
Total
$

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

5,941,237

-

-

(232,027)

995,249

510,029

-

(85,853)

3,389

4,750,450

Stage 1
12 months
ECL
$

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Allowance for impairment on loans and advances (cont’d)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

(1,074,151)

-

-

-

9,984,080

-

-

-

3,526,583 20,281,494

-

-

-

-

(382,435)

-

85,853

(3,389)

3,826,554 11,371,565

2019
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL
$
$

29,749,314

(1,074,151)

-

(232,027)

995,249

10,111,674

-

-

-

19,948,569

Total
$

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020
September 30, 2020

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
13.

Other assets

2020

2019

7,699,603
13,762,787
1,714,486
191,732
1,534

7,699,520
6,123,928
1,467,990
253,871
-

Total other assets – gross

23,370,142

15,545,309

Less: provision for expected credit losses

(1,941,665)

Depositor Protection Trust
Merchant receivables
Prepayments
Miscellaneous receivables
Suspense accounts

$

(111,268)

Total other assets – net

$

21,428,477

15,434,041

Current
Non-current

$

15,670,540
5,757,937

7,845,790
7,588,251

$

21,428,477

15,434,041

The amounts classified as Depositor Protection Trust represent amounts formerly held on deposit
with ABI Bank Ltd. which were previously classified as Due from banks. The amounts are now held in
a trust and will be repaid in line with an agreed payment schedule, scheduled to be completed by 2025
earning interest at a rate of 2% per annum. The principal payment scheduled for May 2020 was not
received which resulted in an increased allowance for expected credit losses.
The amount due from the DPT is in Stage 3 at the reporting date, as it has become credit impaired due
to the missed payment.
2020

2019

111,268

-

-

101,146

111,268
1,830,397

101,146
10,122

1,941,665

111,268

The movement in expected credit losses is as follows:
Balance at the beginning of the year
Amounts restated through opening retained earnings
on initial application of IFRS 9 in 2019

$

Opening balance at October 1
Expected credit losses
Balance at the end of the year

$
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ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020
September 30, 2020

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
14.

Investment securities
Securities measured at amortised cost
Debt securities
- Unlisted
- Listed
Interest receivable
Less: allowance for impairment
Total securities at amortised cost

2020
$

2019
$

25,467,200
42,304,232
692,715
(4,081,185)
64,382,962

51,792,721
55,293,004
1,476,723
(4,220,091)
104,342,357

Securities measured at fair value through OCI
Equity securities
- Unlisted
- Listed
Total equity securities

27,012,750
9,357,431
36,370,181

23,670,287
9,365,345
33,035,632

Total securities at fair value through OCI

36,370,181

33,035,632

Securities measured at fair value through P&L
Equity securities
- Unlisted
- Listed

11,512,511

5,265,905

Total equity securities

11,512,511

5,265,905

Debt securities
- Unlisted
- Listed
Interest receivable
Total debt securities

41,547,461
41,547,461

42,052,689
114,094
42,166,783

53,059,972
153,813,115

47,432,688
184,810,677

Total securities at fair value through P&L
Total investment securities
All debt securities have fixed interest rates.

For investments in equity securities that are designated at FVOCI, this designation was made because
the investments are expected to be held for the long term for strategic purposes.
None of these strategic investments were disposed of during the year ended September 30, 2020
(2019: nil), and there were no transfers of any cumulative gain or loss within equity relating to these
investments (2019: nil). The change in fair value on these investments was $3,334,549 for the year
ended September 30, 2020.
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14.

15,135,461

At September 30, 2018
Impact of adopting IFRS 9 – classification
Impact of adopting IFRS 9 – ECL
remeasurement
Restated balance at October 1, 2018
Additions
Reclassified to cash
Disposals (sales and redemptions)
Movement in accrued interest
Change in fair value
Allowance for expected credit losses
At September 30, 2019
17,892,258
33,027,719
7,913
33,035,632

33,035,632
(1)
3,334,550
36,370,181

At September 30, 2019
Additions
Reclassified to cash
Disposals (sales and redemptions)
Movement in accrued interest
Change in fair value
Movement in premium/discount
Allowance for expected credit losses
At September 30, 2020

Fair value
through OCI
$

98,489,983

89

(276,761)
98,213,222
54,214,042
8,313,835
(6,748,217)
(92,010)
114,094
(2,149,360)
(147,231)
56,670
47,432,688 104,342,357

-

47,432,688 104,342,357
38,141,435
45,867,200
(300,156)
(34,087,006) (85,492,720)
(114,094)
(784,009)
1,987,105
311,228
138,906
53,059,972
64,382,962

Fair value
through P & L
$
-

Held-tomaturity
$

-

-

15,135,461 51,596,134
(15,135,461) (51,596,134)

-

Amortised Available-forcost
sale
$
$

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

The movements in investment securities during the year are as follows:

Investment securities (cont’d)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

-

46,893,849
(46,893,849)

-

Loans and
receivables
$
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14.

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

276,761
(54,038)
(2,632)
220,091

ECL allowance as at October 1, 2018 under IFRS 9
ECL on new instruments issued during the year
Repayments and maturities
At September 30, 2019

90

220,091
1,075
(139,981)
81,185

ECL allowance as at September 30, 2019
ECL on new instruments issued during the year
Repayments and maturities
At September 30, 2020

104,562,448
(220,091)
104,342,357

-

-

-

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL
$

Stage 1
12 Month ECL
$

September 30, 2019
Gross exposure
ECL
Net exposure

-

64,382,962

Net exposure

-

64,464,147
(81,185)

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL
$

September 30, 2020
Gross exposure
ECL

Stage 1
12 Month ECL
$

4,000,000
4,000,000

4,000,000
4,000,000

4,276,761
(54,038)
(2,632)
4,220,091

4,220,091
1,075
(139,981)
4,081,185

108,562,448
(4,220,091)
104,342,357

Total
$

Stage 3
Credit Impaired
Financial Assets
Lifetime ECL
$
4,000,000
(4,000,000)
-

64,382,962

68,464,147
(4,081,185)

Total
$

-

4,000,000
(4,000,000)

Stage 3
Credit Impaired
Financial Assets
Lifetime ECL
$

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit rating system and year end stage
classification for investments.

Investment securities (cont’d)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.
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15.

Net book amount

Cost or valuation
Accumulated
depreciation

At September 30,
2020

Year ended
September 30, 2020
Opening net book
amount
Additions
Disposals
Write-Back
Transfers
Property revaluation
adjustment
Depreciation charge
Closing net book
amount

At September 30,
2019
Cost or valuation
Accumulated
depreciation
Net book amount

ANTIGUA COMMERCIAL BANK LTD.

$ 9,465,000

16,016,011

(470,200)

-

16,016,011

$ 9,465,000

16,486,211

(470,200)

-

$ 9,465,000

15,609,745
143,017
733,449

15,609,745

$ 9,465,000

$ 9,465,000
-

15,609,745

785,878 14,512,765

8,992,765

1,944,091

(398,666)

997,486

(807,428)

9,155,469

401,149

(368,800)

607,245
130,955
31,749

299,044

91

1,944,091

229,337

997,486

401,149

(5,663,153) (9,274,146) (682,131)(13,715,406) (8,754,320)

911,468 14,712,892

229,337

(96,531)

2,220,154
200,278 1,604,787
72,796
125,590
200,127
(34,213) (228,566)
228,566
84,020
-

5,962,197 11,218,237

299,044

(101,299)

350,317
43,856
6,170

Total

- (2,263,820)

- (38,708,903)
130,736 5,256,449 34,739,303

(149,547)

280,283 5,256,449 73,448,206

130,736 5,256,449 34,739,303

(20,896)

151,632 4,320,392 34,529,550
- 1,791,445 2,507,786
(262,779)
228,566
- (855,388)
-

(128,651)
- (36,445,083)
151,632 4,320,392 34,529,550

280,283 4,320,392 70,974,633

Motor Computer Computer
Leasehold
Work in
vehicles hardware
software improvements progress

(5,561,854) (8,875,480) (585,600)(12,907,978) (8,385,520)
350,317 2,220,154
200,278 1,604,787
607,245

5,912,171 11,095,634

Buildings &
building
Furniture
Land improvements and fixtures Equipment

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020

$ 9,465,000

Property and equipment

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020
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15.

$ 9,465,000

Net book amount

15,609,745

$ 9,465,000

2,220,154

(397,138)

2,432,057
90,433
94,802

5,912,171 11,095,634

350,317

(93,636)

415,970
27,983
-

70,027
171,462
579,540

1,604,787

607,245

(831,578) (213,784)

2,001,798
274,272
160,295

785,878 14,512,765 8,992,765

200,278

(80,141)

107,244
173,175
-

15,609,745

350,317

92

2,220,154

200,278

1,604,787

607,245

- (5,561,854) (8,875,480) (585,600)(12,907,978) (8,385,520)

15,609,745

1,300,392
(559,084)

585,000
-

$ 9,465,000

14,616,624
134,470
117,343

$ 8,880,000
-

(1,953,876) (5,468,247) (8,764,775) (621,790)(12,095,963) (8,171,732)
14,616,624
415,970 2,432,057
107,244 2,001,798
70,027

729,034 14,097,761 8,241,759

$ 8,880,000

5,884,217 11,196,832

16,570,500

$ 8,880,000

At September 30,
2019
Cost or valuation
Accumulated
depreciation

Year ended
September 30, 2019
Opening net book
amount
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Property revaluation
adjustment
Depreciation charge
Closing net book
amount

At September 30,
2018
Cost or valuation
Accumulated
depreciation
Net book amount

Work in
progress

69,822,275

Total

-

70,974,633

34,529,550

1,885,392
(2,198,204)

34,529,550

- (36,445,083)
151,632 4,320,392

(128,651)

280,283 4,320,392

151,632 4,320,392

(22,843)

112,233 3,975,854 32,611,807
62,242 1,296,518
2,230,555
- (951,980)
-

(134,085)
- (37,210,468)
112,233 3,975,854 32,611,807

246,318 3,975,854

Motor Computer Computer
Leasehold
vehicles hardware software improvements

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2020
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Buildings &
building
Furniture
Land improvements and fixtures Equipment

Property and equipment (cont’d)

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

September 30, 2020
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15.

Property and equipment (cont’d)
As of September 30, 2019, all of the Group’s land and buildings and improvements were revalued
based on the appraisal performed by an independent firm of professional appraisers. The revaluation
resulted in a gain amounting to $1,300,392 which was included in profit or loss. The remaining
revaluation surplus of $585,000 was included within ‘other reserves’ in shareholders’ equity (note 25).
The following is the historical cost carrying amount of land and buildings carried at revalued amounts
as of September 30, 2020.

Cost

$

Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

Land

Buildings

Total

3,562,078

31,608,727

35,170,805

(15,646,051)

(15,646,051)

15,962,676

19,524,754

$

3,562,078

The following is the historical cost carrying amount of land and buildings carried at revalued amounts
as of September 30, 2019.
Land

Buildings

Total

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

$

3,562,078
-

31,608,727
(15,646,051)

35,170,805
(15,646,051)

Net book value

$

3,562,078

15,962,676

19,524,754

The following is the analysis of property and equipment revaluation surplus as of September 30, 2019.
Land

Buildings

Total

Net book value
Market value

$

8,880,000
(9,465,000)

14,295,736
(15,596,128)

23,175,736
(25,061,128)

Revaluation surplus

$

(585,000)

(1,300,392)

(1,885,392)
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15.

Property and equipment (cont’d)
Valuation techniques

Significant unobservable inputs Inter-relationship between key
unobservable inputs and fair
value measurement

Income based approach:
This is a method of estimating the
present worth of the rights to
future benefits to be derived from
the ownership of a specific
interest in a specific property
under given market conditions.

•

Net cash flows

•

Capitalization rate

The estimated fair value would
increase/(decrease) if:

•

Net
cash
higher/(lower)

flows

were

•

Capitalization
lower/(higher)

rates

were

In property valuation, the future
rights can be expressed as the
right to receive an income from
the property.
The net income must then be
capitalized at an appropriate rate
to reflect the security of income,
expectations of rental growth etc.
The income method of valuation
is considered most appropriate for
income producing properties such
as commercial premises.
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16.

Leases
The Group mainly leases office spaces used in its operations. Rental contracts for these leases are
typically made for fixed periods but may have extension options.
With respect to any extension options, these are exercisable only by the Group and not by the lessors.
The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the
extension options. The Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there
is a significant event or significant changes in circumstances within its control.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets may not be used
as security for borrowing purposes.
The Group also leases ATM space for fixed periods. These leases are short-term in nature. The Group
has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases.
Set out below, are the carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and lease liabilities and the
movements during the period:
Right-of-Use
Lease
Property
Liability
$
$
Balance at October 1, 2019
Depreciation expense
Interest expense
Principal payments

826,162
(309,811)
-

826,162
13,248
(320,811)

As at September 30, 2020

516,351

518,599

Additions to the right-of-use asset during the period were $nil.
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16.

Leases (cont’d)
Supplemental balance sheet information as of September 30, 2020 is set forth below:
Right-of-use assets
Lease obligations:
Current
Non-current
Total lease obligations

September 30,
2020
516,351
314,266
204,333
518,599

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)
Weighted-average discount rate
The following table provides details of our lease expense:
Included in operating costs:
Operating lease costs
Amortization of right-of-use assets
Short-term lease expense
Included in finance expense – interest expense on lease obligations
Total lease expense

2 years
2%
September
30, 2020

September
30, 2019(a)

309,811
13,248

461,790
-

323,059

461,790

(a) Amounts reflect operating lease expense recorded under IAS 17, Leases, prior to adoption of
IFRS 16 on October 1, 2019. Accordingly, amounts are not necessarily comparable.
The following table provides supplemental cash flow information related to our leases:
September
30, 2020
320,811

Total cash outflows from leases

Maturities of Leases
Maturities of our lease liabilities on an undiscounted basis as of September 30, 2020 are presented
below along with the current and non-current lease liabilities on a discounted basis.
Year ending
September 30,
2020
2021
320,811
2022
205,050
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total future payments on an undiscounted basis
525,861
Less: Present value discount
(7,262)
Present value of lease liabilities
518,599
Current portion
Non-current portion

314,266
204,333
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17.

Pension plan
Eligible employees are enrolled in a defined benefit pension scheme which commenced October
1, 1991. The assets of the plan are held in a seven member trustee administered fund. The Board
of Trustees comprises four trustees appointed by the Board of Directors and three appointed by the
employees. The funds of the scheme are invested solely under the control of the trustees and may
be used only for the purposes of the scheme.
The Plan is valued every three years by an independent qualified actuary. The latest available
valuation was performed at September 30, 2020 using the projected unit credit method. At September
30, 2020, the actuarial valuation showed that the Plan is underfunded with net assets available for
benefits representing 86% of accrued projected plan benefits, and indicated a required contribution
rate by the Group, for the next three years, of less than 17.2% of pensionable salaries.
In respect of the defined benefit plan operated by the Group, the amounts recognised in the statement
of financial position are as follows:
2020
2019
Pension plan asset
Present value of funded obligations
$ (19,173,287)
(18,144,779)
Fair value of plan assets
26,302,191
25,706,542
Net asset – end of year

$

7,128,904

7,561,763

The movement in the fair value of plan assets over the year are as follows:
2020

2019

Fair value of plan assets – beginning of year
Contributions – employer and employees
Benefits paid
Plan administration expenses
Actuarial loss
Interest on plan assets

$

25,706,542
803,345
(1,287,928)
(68,057)
(634,209)
1,782,498

25,749,002
810,788
(1,281,449)
(68,770)
(1,288,986)
1,785,957

Fair value of plan assets – end of year

$

26,302,191

25,706,542

The movement in the present value of funded obligations over the year are as follows:
2020

2019

Present value of funded obligations – beginning of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Actuarial loss/(gain)

$

18,144,779
727,519
1,275,983
(1,287,928)
312,934

17,639,500
712,544
1,239,792
(1,281,449)
(165,608)

Present value of funded obligations – end of year

$

19,173,287

18,144,779
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17.

Pension plan (cont’d)
The movements in the net asset recognized in the statement of financial position are as follows:
2020

2019

Net asset – beginning of year
Net pension income included in the statement of income
Actuarial losses included in other comprehensive income
Contributions paid - employer

$

7,561,763
114,757
(947,143)
399,527

8,109,502
173,144
(1,123,378)
402,495

Net asset – end of year

$

7,128,904

7,561,763

2020

2019

The amounts recognized in the statement of income are as follows:
Current service cost
Net interest income on the net defined benefit asset
Plan administration expenses

$

(323,700)
506,514
(68,057)

(304,251)
546,165
(68,770)

Net gain recognized in the statement of income

$

114,757

173,144

2020

2019

The amounts recognized in other comprehensive income are as follows:

Actuarial (loss)/gain for the year – obligation
Actuarial loss for the year - plan assets

$

(312,934)
(634,209)

165,608
(1,288,986)

Actuarial loss recognized in other comprehensive income

$

(947,143)

(1,123,378)

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Debt securities
Equity securities
Property

2020

2019

52%
7%
23%
18%

54%
8%
20%
18%

The pension plan assets include ordinary shares issued by the Group with a value of $77,748 (2019:
$75,851). Plan assets include deposits held with the Group with a fair value of $3,091,546 (2019:
$2,313,992).
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17.

Pension plan (cont’d)
Amounts for the current period and previous four periods are as follows:
2020
Defined benefit obligation
Plan assets

$

Surplus

$

2019

2018

2017

2016

(19,173,287) (18,144,779) (17,639,500) (16,433,180) (15,667,965)
26,302,191 25,706,542 25,749,002
24,684,972
23,590,647
7,128,904

7,561,763

8,109,502

8,251,792

7,922,682

Principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes were as follows:

Discount rate
Future promotional salary increases

2020

2019

7%
3.5%

7.0%
3.5%

Contributions to the pension scheme for the year ended September 30, 2020 amounted to $399,527,
being Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd: $355,829; ACB Mortgage and Trust Company Limited: $43,698
(2019: $402,495, being Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd: $354,133; ACB Mortgage and Trust Company
Limited: $48,362). The Group’s contributions are adjusted according to the actuary’s recommendations.
Contributions expected to be paid to the plan for the subsequent period are budgeted at $615,574,
being Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd: $565,674; ACB Mortgage and Trust Company Limited: $49,900.
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:
2020
Impact on defined benefit obligation
Change in assumption

Increase in assumption

Discount rate

1%

$

Salary growth rate

1%

983,420

Life expectancy

1%

19,499,081

Decrease in assumption

(2,317,749) $

2,924,386
(865,314)
-

2019
Impact on defined benefit obligation
Change in assumption
Discount rate

1%

Salary growth rate

1%

Life expectancy

1 year

Increase in assumption
$

(2,176,933) $
934,319

Decrease in assumption
2,578,763
(823,281)

18,451,094

-

The duration of the benefit obligation is 13.5 years (2019: 13.6 years).
The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other
assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions
may be correlated.
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17.

Pension plan (cont’d)
When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions
the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit
credit method at the end of the year) has been applied as when calculating the pension plan liability
recognised within the statement of financial position.
The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change
compared to the previous year.

18.

Deposits due to customers
2020

2019

365,339,930
285,325,135
281,753,636
97,213,998

400,013,306
253,213,816
227,553,360
123,833,915

1,029,632,699

1,004,614,397

4,054,460

3,865,635

Total deposits due to customers

$ 1,033,687,159

1,008,480,032

Current

$

Savings accounts
Time deposits
Current accounts
Other deposits

$

Interest payable

Non-current

839,173,008

841,752,246

194,514,151

166,727,786

$ 1,033,687,159 1,008,480,032
19.

Provisions and other liabilities

2020

2019

Trade payables and accrued expenses
Manager’s cheques
Provisions (1)
Escrow accounts
Other sundry payables
Miscellaneous payable

$

11,940,152
3,705,369
1,742,240
1,408,917
3,883
494,836

12,076,122
1,733,802
1,492,978
1,248,022
86,761
155,504

Total other liabilities and accrued expenses

$

19,295,397

16,793,189

Current

$

17,886,477

15,545,166

1,408,920

1,248,023

19,295,397

16,793,189

Non-current
$

(1) Provisions relate to expected credit losses on loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts.
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20.

Dividends
During the year, a dividend in respect of the 2019 financial year end of $5,000,000 was recorded and
paid (2019: $4,000,000 in respect of the 2018 financial year).
The dividend proposed in respect of the 2020 financial year end is $0.085 for each unit of paid up
share capital, or EC$850,000 (2019: $0.50 or EC$5,000,000). The consolidated financial statements
for the year ended September 30, 2020 do not reflect this proposed dividend which, if ratified, will be
accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ending September 30,
2021.

21.

Taxation
Income tax payable
Income tax payable, beginning of year

$

Current tax expense
Prior year over accrual
Payments made during the year
Income tax payable, end of year

$

Income tax expense

2020

2019

3,826,505

1,173,830

1,205,336
(214,669)
(3,482,156)

3,888,538
(51,812)
(1,184,051)

1,335,016

3,826,505

2020

2019

Profit before tax

$

2,475,417

25,343,110

Income tax expense at statutory rates
Effect of interest income not subject to tax
Effect of dividend income not subject to tax
Effect of untaxable income
Prior year over accrual
Effect of deferred taxes
Effect of other permanent differences
Others
Non-deductible expenses

$

704,159
(1,185,574)
(686,971)
(56,412)
70,300
(214,669)
149,332
264,874

6,320,679
(1,770,838)
(667,050)
(316,261)
(577,260)
1,530,692
87,717
-

Actual income tax (credit) expense

$

(954,961)

4,607,679

The statutory tax rate for Antigua Commercial Bank is 25% (2019: 25%) and for ACB Mortgage and
Trust is 20% (2019: 20%).
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21.

Taxation (cont’d)
Deferred tax liability (asset), net

2020

2019

Balance, beginning of year
Deferred tax on IFRS 9 ECL opening adjustment
Current year release to deferred tax – profit
Current year release to deferred tax – equity
(Credit) Charge for the year
Deferred tax on the revaluation of FVOCI securities
Other
Actuarial loss

$

5,775,417
(109,730)
109,746
(1,945,628)
(1,980)
(1,482)
(236,786)

7,277,536
(1,940,415)
719,141
(280,845)

Balance, end of year

$

3,589,557

5,775,417

The components of the deferred tax liability (net of deferred tax assets) are as follows:
2020

2019

Statutory loan loss reserve
Revaluation of FVOCI securities
Pension asset
Deferred commission
Decelerated capital allowances
Tax losses carried forward
Expected credit losses – Stage 1 and 2
Unrealized gains
Capital allowances

$

6,825,850
873,715
1,782,226
(424,358)
(651,959)
(1,144,504)
(3,218,069)
441,115
(894,459)

8,621,553
875,394
1,890,441
(501,755)
(592,531)
(1,504,841)
(2,127,973)
(884,871)

Balance, end of year

$

3,589,557

5,775,417

The income tax payable does not represent amounts agreed with the tax authority. The amount is
reflective of the Group’s position concerning its tax balance with the Inland Revenue Department (IRD)
on the basis of its records. However, as the Group’s tax return for the year of assessment 2020 has not
been finalised with the IRD, there is uncertainty as to the eventual liability.
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22.

Related party balances and transactions
Related party definition
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.
a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:
i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

ii)

has significant influence over the Group; or

iii)

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group, or of a parent of the Group.

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:
i)

The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

ii)

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

iii)

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

iv)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

v)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group.

vi)

The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

vii)

A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group.
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties,
regardless of whether a price is charged.
A number of banking transactions were entered into with related parties in the normal course of
business. These include loans, deposits and other transactions. With the exception of the amounts
due to subsidiary, these transactions were carried out on commercial terms and at market rates.
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22.

Related party balances and transactions (cont’d)
The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end and related expenses
and income for the year are as follows:
2020
Loans to directors and key members of management
Loans outstanding at beginning of year
Change in status
Loans reassigned from Director
Loans issued during the year
Loan repayments during the year
Loans outstanding at end of year

$

$

890,107
(84,441)
173,002
404,272
(103,006)
1,279,934

2019
1,958,363
(898,372)
(898,073)
962,996
(234,807)
890,107

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties (2019: nil).
Interest income earned on directors’ and key members of management’s loans and advances during
the year is $64,115 (2019: $159,823). The interest rates on these loans range from 5% to 11% (2019:
7% to 8.5%) and they are granted on an arm’s length basis.
2020
2019
Deposits by directors and key members of management
Deposits at beginning of year
Deposits received during the year
Deposits repaid/reclassified during the year
Change in status
Deposits at end of year

$

7,013,879
6,423,425
(5,514,157)
978,956

6,679,275
4,785,349
(4,724,831)
274,086

$

8,902,103

7,013,879

Interest expense paid on directors’ and key members of management’s deposits during the year is
$296,155 (2019: $205,945). Interest rates on directors’ deposits range from 2% to 2.5% (2019: 2% to
2.25%) and they are accepted on an arm’s length basis.
Remuneration of key management personnel
During the year, salaries and related benefits were paid to key members of management allocated
as follows:
2020
2019
Salaries and wages
Directors’ fees and expenses
Other staff costs
Pension costs

$

1,026,475
949,437
240,791
25,678

1,015,915
944,182
244,481
24,638

$

2,242,381

2,229,216
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23.

24.

Stated capital
Authorised share capital:
150,000,000 shares at nil par value
Issued and fully paid:
10,000,000 shares at nil par value

2020

2019

$

150,000,000

150,000,000

$

36,000,000

36,000,000

2020

2019

Statutory reserve
Balance at beginning of year
Transfer from profit after taxation

$

26,059,962
-

23,459,372
2,600,590

Balance at end of year

$

26,059,962

26,059,962

Section 45 of the Antigua and Barbuda Banking Act No. 10 of 2015 provides that not less than 20%
of each year’s net earnings of Antigua Commercial Bank shall be set aside to a reserve fund whenever
the fund is less than the paid-up capital of the Bank.
25.

Other reserves

2020

2019

Capital reserve
Regulatory reserve for loan loss
Revaluation reserve – FVOCI securities
Revaluation reserve – property
Pension reserve

$

7,461,949
27,912,286
22,572,436
5,902,922
7,128,904

7,461,949
34,997,809
19,235,907
5,902,922
7,561,763

Total other reserves

$

70,978,497

75,160,350

(a)

Capital reserve
Included in this balance is an amount of $6,171,428 recorded in prior years for share premium
recognised.

(b)

Regulatory reserve for loan loss and interest recognised

2020

2019

Balance at beginning of year
Decrease in reserve for regulatory purposes

$

34,997,809
(7,085,523)

34,997,809
-

Balance at end of year

$

27,912,286

34,997,809

This reserve represents the additional loan loss provision required by the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank’s prudential guidelines as compared to the provision measured in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, together with a reserve for interest on loans not
recognised for regulatory purposes.
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25.

Other reserves (cont’d)
(b)

Regulatory reserve for loan loss and interest recognized (cont’d)
The regulatory reserve is represented by:

(c)

(d)

2020

2019

Reserve for loan impairment – ECCB
Reserve for loan impairment – ECCB (voluntary)
Reserve for interest on non-performing loans

$

21,181,515
6,730,771

2,899,116
18,144,534
13,954,159

Balance at end of year

$

27,912,286

34,997,809

2020

2019

19,235,907
-

2,736,004
16,493,969

3,336,529

5,934

22,572,436

19,235,907

2020

2019

$

5,902,922
-

5,317,922
585,000

$

5,902,922

5,902,922

Revaluation reserve for FVOCI securities
Balance at beginning of year
Changes on initial application of IFRS 9 in 2019
Increase in market value of investment
securities, net of tax of $1,980 (2019: $1,979)

$

Balance at end of year

$

Revaluation reserve - Property
Balance at beginning of year
Increase in revaluation reserve - property

A revaluation of land and buildings was conducted in 2019 (note 15).
(e)

Pension reserve

2020

2019

Balance at beginning of year
Decrease in pension reserve

$

7,561,763
(432,859)

8,109,502
(547,739)

Balance at end of year

$

7,128,904

7,561,763

The Board of Directors has decided to appropriate annually out of net profits the amounts
necessary to maintain a pension reserve equivalent to the pension asset.
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26.

Other operating income

2020

2019

Fees and commissions
Foreign exchange
Unrealised gain (loss) on FVTPL
Insurance settlement
Dividend income
Realized gain on FVTPL securities
Rental income
Recovery of loans written off
Miscellaneous income

$

9,348,105
4,728,127
1,764,458
1,351,407
761,105
222,647
144,576
109,491
337,609

10,186,191
5,319,874
(147,231)
682,206
144,576
315,544
426,568

Total other operating income

$

18,767,525

16,927,728
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26.

Other operating income (cont’d)
Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies
Fee and commission income from contracts with customers is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over
a service to a customer.
The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance
obligations in contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue
recognition policies.
For the accounting policy for fees and commissions in the scope of IFRS 9, see Note 4.9; and for the
accounting policy for onerous contracts, see Note 4.4.
Type of service

Retail and corporate banking
service

Nature and timing of satisfaction
of performance obligations,
including significant payment
terms
The Group provides banking
services to retail and corporate
customers, including account
management,
provision
of
overdraft
facilities,
foreign
currency transactions, credit
card and servicing fees.
Fees for ongoing account
management are charged to the
customer’s account on a
monthly basis. The Group sets
the rates separately for retail
and
corporate
banking
customers on an annual basis.

Revenue recognition policies
under IFRS 15
Revenue from account service
and servicing fees is recognised
over time as the services are
provided.
Revenue related to transactions
is recognised at the point in time
when the transaction takes
place.

Transaction-based fees for
interchange, foreign currency
transactions and overdrafts are
charged to the customer’s
account when the transaction
takes place.
Servicing fees are charged on a
monthly basis and are based on
fixed rates reviewed annually by
the Group.
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27.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
2020
2019

28.

Net profit attributable to shareholders
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

$

3,430,378
10,000,000

20,735,431
10,000,000

Basic and diluted earnings per share

$

0.34

2.07

2020

2019

$

118,748,257
81,384,523
30,296,720

38,289,453
120,924,857
43,979,408

$

230,429,500

203,193,718

Cash and cash equivalents

Notes

Due from other banks
Cash balances with the Central Bank
Treasury bills

9
8
10

Total cash and cash equivalents
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29.

General and administrative expenses

Notes

Salaries and related costs
Software operating expenses
Service charge for corresponding banks
Legal and other professional fees
Acquisition costs
Telephone and data charges
Utilities
Audit fees and expenses
Advertising and promotion
Insurance expense
Subscriptions and fees
Cleaning expenses
Security services
Repairs and maintenance
Printing and stationery expenses
Licenses and taxes
Four C’s operating expenses
Night depository expenses
ECACH charges
Non-credit losses
Investment expense
Agency expenses
Rent
ECCB and foreign exchange expenses
Wire services expense
Vehicle expenses
Strategic Planning Expense
Shareholders’ meeting expenses
Donations
Commission
Travel and entertainment
Bank charges
Cash purchases expenses
Hospitality Suite
Scholarship fund
Miscellaneous expenses

2020

30

Total general and administrative expenses

$

2019

$ 14,021,860
2,223,260
1,210,960
1,204,275
1,154,633
741,608
731,167
673,388
615,349
598,066
595,500
544,626
512,853
449,424
443,728
375,245
374,584
350,893
279,987
279,605
257,098
170,097
154,498
137,315
108,506
88,978
84,324
83,138
73,561
38,007
18,013
5,477
(39,760)
88,248

13,970,640
2,170,313
1,289,999
432,717
776,825
705,352
498,372
605,061
533,555
542,555
432,220
504,993
402,916
498,977
359,888
370,025
381,797
202,186
2,075,870
271,143
76,935
461,790
269,256
108,444
95,074
213,788
43,566
40,678
62,516
5,487
324,200
6,250
94,127
95,820

28,648,511

28,923,335
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30.

Salaries and related costs
2020

31.

2019

Salaries, wages and allowances
Statutory deduction costs
Other benefits
Staff incentive scheme
Training and education
Group health and life
Pension credit

$

11,305,830
1,003,540
646,317
571,348
316,569
245,053
(66,797)

11,246,076
943,690
682,261
628,082
360,076
235,237
(124,782)

Total salaries and related costs

$

14,021,860

13,970,640

Contingencies and commitments
Pending litigation
Various actions and legal proceedings may arise against the Group during the normal course of
business. The Group is currently involved in certain employee-related legal matters for which the
outcome cannot be presently determined. The amount of the liability, if any, will be contingent on the
eventual outcome of court proceedings and will be recognised at that time.
Credit related commitments
The contractual amounts of the Group’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that commit it to
extend credit to customers are listed below:

As of September 30, 2020
Loan commitments (undrawn)

$

As of September 30, 2019
Loan commitments (undrawn)

$

As of September 30, 2020
Financial guarantee contracts

$

As of September 30, 2019
Financial guarantee contracts

$

Up to 1 year

Total

57,600,939

57,600,939

Up to 1 year

Total

61,370,469

61,370,469

Up to 1 year

Total

8,236,116

8,236,116

Up to 1 year

Total

8,643,883

8,643,883
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32.

Provision for impairment of other financial assets
The provision for impairment of other financial assets is comprised of $74,464 [Note 9], $95,621
[Note 10], $1,830,397 [Note 13] and ($138,906) [Note 14].

33.

Subsequent events
Further to the December 12, 2019 announcement that the Bank, as part of a Consortium of Banks,
had entered into a definitive agreement to purchase identified assets from the Royal Bank of Canada
(RBC), the Bank received regulatory approval from the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB) on
December 22, 2020 to, inter alia:
•
•

acquire the assets and banking business of the RBC Antigua Branch; and
acquire 62.08% shareholding of RBTT Bank Grenada Limited.

A tentative closing date of April 1, 2021 has been set for the completion of the transaction with an up
to 12 months transition period provided thereafter. Due to the stage of the transaction, an estimate of
the financial effect of this proposed acquisition cannot be made reliably.
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